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REPORT
TENNIS QUEENSLAND

was also rewarded for a great year, 
receiving a Newcombe Medal, 
Australian Tennis Award for the Most 
Outstanding Athlete with a Disability. 
We are incredibly proud of our 
Queenslanders and look forward to 
continuing to support their journeys 
across the coming year. 

Our local disciplinary tribunals 
have been reinstated which is 
an important step for Tennis 
Queensland. We prioritised player 
behavior and attitudes over results, 
ensuring that great culture and 
player attitudes like those displayed 
by Ash Barty and John Millman are 
the benchmark for all Queenslanders 
who hit the court. 

The Board of Directors has seen a 
collaborative approach this year, 
working together with Company 
Members and the delivery network 
to make important changes to 
grow our game. One of the many 
notable achievements of the Tennis 
Queensland team is not just the 
collaboration across all of our 
regions and departments to ensure 
tennis thrives across all Queensland 
clubs; but also the delivery of a 
surplus budget and success of 
the Queensland Tennis Centre as 
a heartbeat facility for tennis in 
Queensland. 

We have worked to be more 
transparent with stronger working 
relationships within the tennis 
community and we look to build 
upon this established foundation in 
the year ahead.

Our affiliation retention 
demonstrates the strength we have 

achieved by working together and 
encourages me that we are on 
the right path forward. 2021/2022 
saw the tennis family grow with 
AusPlay data highlighting substantial 
increases in participation, with 
data reporting 1,529,000 Aussies, 
including 1,227,800 adults and 
301,200 children, picked up a 
racquet throughout the latest 
reporting period. Tennis was the 
fastest growing sport across all ages 
and out-performed 15 other activities 
and sports, including AFL, basketball 
and soccer.

I appreciate and enjoy the 
opportunity to work with such 
committed and hardworking Board 
members who support the great 
team at Tennis Queensland and I 
thank them all for their ongoing 
contribution. Together we are 
achieving significant outcomes 
for our sport and our tennis family 
across Queensland.  

Thank you all for your ongoing 
support.

I am honoured to be the first elected 
female Chairperson for the Board 
of Tennis Queensland. This election, 
as well as the Tennis Queensland 
Gender Equity Plan, demonstrates 
the growth we have seen in the 
organisation when it comes to being 
more inclusive; with priority being 
placed on creating equitable access 
across our game, organisation and 
governance positions.

This year we have seen incredible 
results from our Queenslanders 
across both wheelchair and players 
with intellectual impairment (PWII) 
events. 

Ben Wenzel of Cairns earned 
selection for the Australian Junior 
Wheelies team and represented 
Australia at the 2022 BNP Paribas 
World Team Cup where they were 
crowned World Champions at the 
event in Portugal. Archie Graham 
has continued his reign at the top 
with a strong start to the year, 
taking out the II-1 Men’s Singles 
and Doubles at the 2022 Australian 
Open PWII Finals held at Mlebourne 
Park in January. Timothy Gould 

“OUR FOCUS ON 
INCLUSION EXTENDS 
TO OUR PLAYER 
PATHWAYS AND 
ENSURING WE 
CONTINUE TO GROW 
OPPORTUNITIES FOR 
PLAYERS OF ALL 
ABILITIES.”
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WHAT A YEAR IT HAS BEEN

We have seen many changes, 
opportunities and challenges 
across 2021/22. Through the 
highs and the lows, we have 
seen an undercurrent of passion, 
community and resilience from 
everyone in the tennis community. 

It has been wonderful to see 
the rich contributions from our 
affiliates, clubs, associations, 
coaches, volunteers, officials, 
schools, players, venues, and 
events. Tennis continues to 
thrive due to the hard work and 
collaboration of all involved. 
We can all be proud of the 
accomplishments of the tennis 
community and I urge each and 
every one of you to pause and 
reflect on what you have brought 
to the game this year.

Our great game is in good shape, 
and through working together, 
we will continue the momentum 
of this year to great heights as 
we lead into the green and gold 
runway of the 2032 Brisbane 
Olympic and Paralympic Games, 
which will see our state and our 
tennis talent on the global stage.

CHALLENGES

2021/2022 has brought 
opportunity as well as challenges 
to our tennis community. The 
COVID-19 pandemic continued 
to have lingering impacts and 
extreme weather conditions such 
as rain, floods and heat saw tennis 
come to a halt at times across 
our diverse region. I am proud 

of the collective and community 
led response to these adversities, 
galvanizing our tennis landscape 
and local communities. 

Although these impacts are 
not over, with some affiliates 
still wearing the brunt of these 
challenges, our sport has 
continued to grow and inspire a 
new generation of players. 

Our beloved Brisbane Tennis 
also fell victim to the ongoing 
impacts of the pandemic, with 
the event unable to go ahead for 
a second year. We look forward 
to welcoming international tennis 
back to the sunshine state for the 
upcoming Summer of Tennis.

THE TENNIS QUEENSLAND 
TEAM

It has been an honour and a 
privilege to work alongside the 
Tennis Queensland team through 
this time. An agile workforce, 
innovating and growing our game 
in collaboration with our delivery 
network. The team can be proud 
of the collective achievements 
coming out of these uncertain 
times. We have grown, learnt and 
explored new initiatives and with 
our affiliates, I look forward to this 

innovative spirit continuing for 
many years to come. 

I’d like to acknowledge the work 
of our previous CEO Mr. Mark 
Handley, who resigned from the 
role in December 2021. Mark 
stepped down with a strong 
legacy of growth, overseeing four 
successive years of operating 
surplus for the company, 
exponential growth in activity at 
the Queensland Tennis Centre, 
and record participation rates 
across the state despite the 
challenges of the pandemic. He 
has made a lasting legacy within 
the Queensland tennis community, 
and we wish him the best in his 
next chapter.

GROWING THE GAME 
TOGETHER

Collaboration has been a constant 
theme throughout this year. We 
have continued to work closely 
with all levels of Government 
to grow, maintain and sustain 
our facilities and bring new 
an inclusive initiatives such as 
the Click to the Court project 
(through ActiveKIT funding), 
Tennis in State Schools Initiative 
(TISSI) and Women and Girls 
initiatives to life. We are also 
grateful to have celebrated 
our fifth year of Tennis on the 
Speakers Green, an annual 
event which celebrates our 
ongoing partnership with the 
Queensland Government and our 
Parliamentary Friends of Tennis. 

We have engaged our regions 

We have engaged our regions 
to build our competitive play 
landscape together, with seven 
competitive play working groups 
established across the state, led 
by the Regional Assemblies, to 
understand the wants and needs 
at a local level. 

linking Tennis Australia, Tennis 
Queensland and affiliates. We 
look forward to continuing 
and growing the collaborative 
approach further. 

To our partners, we are incredibly 
thankful for all the support 
you provide our sport. To the 
Queensland State Government, 
Local Governments, Health 
and Wellbeing Queensland and 
importantly, Tennis Australia, 
we look forward to continuing 
our respective partnerships and 
continuing the great work of the 
past year into the next. 

 

A special mention must also go 

to Craig Tiley, Tom Larner, the 
Tennis Australia team and my 
respective Member Association 
CEO’s, I appreciate the support 
you have provided to myself 
and the Tennis Queensland team 
as we continue to support our 
tennis delivery network across 
Queensland to enable more 
people playing more often. 

Finally, to the Tennis Queensland 
staff, I would like to thank 
the team for their ongoing 
commitment and passion for 
the work they do every day. 
Their dedication to support and 
grow the Queensland tennis 
community is an inspiration. The 
sport is very fortunate to have 
such an amazing team of people 
promoting and driving this great 
game to new heights. 

It has been an honour to lead 
the organisation over the last 
six months and head into 
the next year with a focus on 
collaboration and making our 
game more accessible at every 
level.

TENNIS QUEENSLAND CEO

“...THERE HAS BEEN 
GREAT SUCCESS 
THIS YEAR WITH 
A COHESIVE 
APPROACH...”
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A REMARKABLE YEAR

It has truly been a remarkable year.

 Together we rose from a pandemic 
to greater heights and some 
stunning outcomes.

It started in triumph with Ash Barty 
following in the footsteps of her 
long-time friend and mentor, Evonne 
Goolagong Cawley, to become 
the first Australian woman to win 
Wimbledon in 41 years. The world 
No.1 went onto claim the singles 
and doubles titles in Adelaide 
before becoming the first Aussie 
to win on home soil since 1978. A 
victory watched by more than 4.261 
million Australian viewers… and 
unbeknownst to any of us, her final 
match. What a way to mark 100 
years since women first competed in 
the Australasian Championships.

Dylan Alcott also soared. With 
victories in every Grand Slam quad 
wheelchair singles event and another 
gold medal at the Tokyo Paralympics, 
the much-loved Melburnian became 
the first man in tennis to win a 
Golden Slam. His achievements on 
and off the court were recognized 
in January when he was named 
Australian of the Year.

 A 14-strong team of players 
represented Australia in Tokyo at 
the Olympic and Paralympic Games, 
where Ash teamed with John Peers 
to win bronze in mixed doubles, and 
Dylan and Heath Davidson combined 
superbly to claim the silver medal in 
doubles. 

In January world-class tennis 
returned to Sydney, Adelaide, 
Melbourne and regional Victoria 

and the 157 Aussie players who 
competed did not disappoint with 
Thanasi Kokkinakis winning his 
maiden ATP title in front of a home 
crowd Adelaide. 

John Peers took home the doubles 
crown in Sydney and Dylan Alcott 
claimed his final quad singles title 
at the Victorian Wheelchair Open 
before teaming up with Heath 
Davidson to win the doubles. 

The Australian Open was one for 
the history books with Ash’s win 
immediately followed by Thanasi 
Kokkinakis and Nick Kyrgios 
defeating fellow Aussies Matt Ebden 
and Max Purcell to claim the men’s 
doubles title. 

 The new Competitive Play 
Framework also launched in 
January to make it easier for players 
to understand their level on the 
pathway and find competitive 
opportunities most suited to their 
standard. The number of endorsed 
events increased 70 per cent in the 
first six months to more than 300 
with 11,934 players competing. 

A new qualification criteria was 
introduced for National Junior 
Championships and more than 
150 up-and-coming tennis players 
represented their state at the annual 
junior team competition with a 
further 131 players competing in 
Canberra in the Claycourt Nationals.  

During the year, more than 
5000 young players are in Talent 
Development programs around 
Australia with 40 players aged 
between 15 and 23 qualifying for the 
National Tennis Academy. Another 
760 girls went to Female in Tennis 
development camps –getting quality 
coaching in sync with trends and 
tactics of the modern women’s 
game.

The Australian player success 
inspired many of us onto the court 
during the year, participation 
growing 14 per cent to 1.514 million 
with a 20 per cent increase in the 
number of adults playing the sport. 
Our Schools Program celebrated 
being the number one delivered 
Sporting Schools program for the 
sixth year in a row.

Play.Tennis.com.au continues to be 
fundamental to the growing the 
game with traffic to the website 
increasing 605 per cent during 
January 2022 and more than 75 per 
cent of the Australian population 
able to book a court online within 15 
kilometres of their homes.

Tennis Hot Shots had 634,473 kids 
participating while our Tennis in 
Schools program continues to be 
the No.1 requested and delivered 
sport as part of the Sporting Schools 
initiative. And another 40,000 kids 
across Australia enjoyed AO Holiday 
Programs delivered by 275 coaches 
at 450 venues during January. 

Whether they are developing the 
next elite athlete, teaching a young 
kid to hold a racquet for the first time 
or out there on tour, the connection 

with all levels of government and 
the local community to generate 
over $430 million in investment over 
this period (excluding major event 
venues). This included helping more 
than 20 flood-affected venues are 
being supported with their clean-up 
efforts and to get them back up and 
running.

The HIT tool helps improve the 
experience and accessibility of 
reporting on the performance of 
tennis venues nationwide. Venue 
reporting information is now entered 
via online forms and submitted 
directly into the HIT platform, 
ensuring greater data accuracy and 
richer insights. 

To complement their work, initiatives 
like the National Hitting Wall project 
and Women Leaders in Tennis 
program create opportunities within 
local communities to both support 
and encourage grassroots access to 
the sport, as well as to foster diverse 
community engagement.  

An artistic initiative to showcase 
hitting walls around the country 
as part of a push to increase 
community participation in tennis. 
The national project sees walls 
redesigned by local artists in every 
state and territory. With more than 
450 hitting walls at affiliated venues 
and clubs across Australia, and 
hundreds more in community parks 
and public settings, hitting against 
a wall is a great way for people of 
all ages to have fun, stay active and 
improve their tennis skills.

As the traditional game continues to 

between a coach and their player is 
something that remains constant. It 
takes dedicated coaches to spark 
the passion for tennis and our 3200 
coach members are the driving force 
behind the growth of our tennis 
programs.

Australian Francois Vogelsberger 
was awarded the International Tennis 
Federation’s Wheelchair Tennis 
Coach of the Year. Vogelsberger was 
recognised for his work with Dylan 
Alcott and Heath Davidson, who 
were both top 10-ranked players in 
the quad wheelchair division. He also 
won the Australian Tennis Award for 
Coaching Excellence in Performance.

Tennis continues to deliver coach 
education courses facilitated by 
a qualified team. More than 600 
coaches have enrolled in courses 
over the past 12 months. Another 
630 tennis Coaches from 31 
countries participated in the virtual 
Grand Slam Coaches Conference, 
featuring 49 world class presenters 
from 13 countries. 

Coach Connect launches to engage, 
educate and connect, focused on 
the recruitment and retention of 
female coaches. 200+ participants 
have enrolled in mentoring, 
workshops and networks since its 
inception. And in May, the Women 
Leaders in Tennis program consisting 
of formal learning, networking and 
mentoring opportunities launched. 
The program has been developed 
to help build the confidence 
and competence of current and 
emerging leaders. 

We continued to foster safe, 
inclusive tennis venues that thrive 
in their respective communities. A 
national education and awareness 
campaign called A Safer Game 
Plan launched in October 2021 and 
more than 400 staff members and 
788 Club administrators, TA Coach 
Members and Officials attend a 
series of safeguarding children 
training workshops.

 Since 2007, more than $29 million 
has been invested into facility 
development as part of the National 
Court Rebate initiative, partnering 

grow, so too do new and emerging 
formats. More than 10,000 Australian 
Open fans got to experience Padel, 
POP and Beach Tennis in 2022. 
These formats offer exciting scope 
to broaden the reach of traditional 
tennis, and to engage both existing 
players as well as brand new 
participants. 

We recognize the opportunity and 
responsibility we have to harness 
the power of tennis to champion 
equality, sustainability, mental 
health and wellbeing. Some of 
the initiatives introduced this past 
year include holding the first AO 
Pride Day which saw more than 
140 LGBTQ+ players from around 
Australia compete in the AO Glam 
Slam presented by Ralph Lauren 
with the finals held on Kia Arena.

The inaugural AO First Nations Day 
was also held with a Koorie Heritage 
Cultural Walk from Birrarung Marr. 
Yolngu man, Baker Boy performed 
on Rod Laver Arena before the night 
session. 

As we reflect on this remarkable 
12 months and look to the future, 
we should be proud of all that we 
achieved during this time. We made 
use of every moment spent off the 
court as a result of the pandemic to 
dive deeply into our coaching and 
competitive play ecosystems around 
Australia and start building plans for 
ongoing improvement.

Our engagement with coaches and 
the playing community throughout 
this process highlighted the 
importance of building stronger 
relationships, finding improved 
ways to connect, learning from each 
other’s experiences and planning 
together for the future of our game. 
A future that looks brighter each 
day.

TENNIS AUSTRALIA CEO

“...THE COMMUNITY 
SPIRIT OF TENNIS 
CONTINUES TO 
THRIVE LARGELY 
DUE TO THE 
SUPPORT AND 
DEDICATION OF 
OVER 25,000 
PASSIONATE 
VOLUNTEERS.”
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REGIONAL 
HIGHLIGHTS

GRANTS AND FUNDING

Over $240,000 in grants and funding 
secured for the region (2021/22).

GRANTS AND FUNDING

Over $821,000 in grants and funding 
secured for the region (2021/22).

GRANTS AND FUNDING

Over $500,000 in grants and funding 
secured across the region (2021/22).

FACILITY DEVELOPMENT

Over nine facilities upgraded across the 
region.

FACILITY DEVELOPMENT

Over 12 facilities upgraded across the 
region.

FACILITY DEVELOPMENT

Over 13 facilities upgraded across the 
region.

DIGITAL ENABLEMENT
The region has seen significant interest 
in the adoption of club management 
tool ‘ClubsSpark’ with 22/23 affiliated 
tennis clubs utilising the platform to 
run their club website, membership and 
online court hire.

DIGITAL ENABLEMENT
The region has seen significant growth 
in the adoption of club management 
tool ‘ClubSpark’ with 15/16 clubs 
adopting the platform to run their 
club website, membership and online 
court hire. 

DIGITAL ENABLEMENT
The region has seen significant growth 
in the adoption of club management 
tool ‘Clubspark’ with 26 clubs 
adopting the platform to run their 
club website, membership and online 
court hire.  

REGIONAL INITIATIVES

North Regional Assembly has 
introduced a Matchplay Sub-
Committee with over 50% of the 
committee positions held by females. 

FA
R

 N
O

R
T

H
 Q

U
E

E
N

S
L

A
N

D

N
O

R
T

H
 Q

U
E

E
N

S
L

A
N

D

C
E

N
T

R
A

L 
Q

U
E

E
N

S
L

A
N

D

EVENT HIGHLIGHTS 
 
Regional Open Day

•	 14 clubs participating across 
the region in a combined Open 
Day

•	 Over 475 participants across 
the weekend, 165 memberships 
sold 

•	 52,414 paid social media and 
reach (funded by the FNQ 
Regional Assembly)

•	 Local area marketing packs 
provided to participating clubs

Cairns Indigenous Tennis 
Carnival

•	 15 participants from local Far 
North Queensland Tennis Clubs 
and the Yarrabah PCYC.

•	 Participants had the 
opportunity to experience a 
traditional Welcome to Country 
and Smoking Ceremony 

EVENT HIGHLIGHTS

•	 North Queensland Games 
hosted by the Home Hill Tennis 
Association. 

EVENT HIGHLIGHTS 
 
Central Queensland Girls 
Squad 

•	 21 girls from across the region 
attended.

•	 Two female regional coaches 
were involved with the camp 
which was led by Emma 
Shoemaker Tennis Australia’s 
Females in Tennis Lead. 

•	 The focus for the day was on 
the topic “Being brave both on 
and off the court”

delivered by local indigenous 
group Minjil, traditional 
indigenous games with local 
Indigenous youth mentoring 
organisation Harbrow 
Mentoring and tennis skills 
and drills with Baseline Tennis 
Academy.

Far North Queensland 
Seniors Event 

•	 The Cairns International Tennis 
Centre hosted the region’s first 
seniors event in partnership 
with Tennis Seniors Queensland. 

•	 70 entries –supported by a 
mix of players from around 
Queensland.

Port Douglas Red Ball Gala 
Day

•	 90 kids participating from 
seven schools across the 
Douglas Shire Council region

GRANTS AND FUNDING

Over $420,000 in grants and funding 
secured for the region (2021/22).

FACILITY DEVELOPMENT

Over 18 facilities upgraded across the 
region

REGIONAL INITIATIVES
Emerging Leaders:

•	 The annual Sunshine Coast 
Emerging Leaders program ran 
for a fourth year and due to its 
success, has inspired the roll out of 
the program across the state.

•	 The 2022 program has shifted 
focus to aid the high priority 
development areas of the region 
including coaching, tournament 
directing and officiating.

•	 In 2022 the program supported 6 
participants from 5 clubs across 
the region.

Sunshine Coast Girls Squad:

•	 The program aims to provide girls 
from the region the opportunity to 
network and build friendships with 
other players

2021:

•	 25 girls from across the region 
came together to participate (8-16 
years of age).

•	 Facilitated by guest coaches and 
professional tennis players Kim 
Birrell and Kaylah McPhee.

2022:

•	 13 girls from across the region 
participated.

•	 Three female regional coaches 
were involved with the camp 
which was led by Dee Penman 
Master Club Pro Coach and 
National Capability Manager at 
Tennis Australia.

•	 The day was centered around the 
topic: “Vulnerability and how it can 
be a strength both on and off the 
court.”

DIGITAL ENABLEMENT

Highest number of clubs using club 
management tool ‘ClubSpark’ (37 
adopters).
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EVENT HIGHLIGHTS 
 
ITF Pro Tour Events

•	 2 x ITF 15K Pro Tour Events 
facilitated by Elite Tennis 
International at the Sunshine 
Coast Tennis Centre. 
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FACILITY DEVELOPMENT
New Narangba Tennis Centre opening 
(six court facility in Moreton Bay 
Regional Council)

REGIONAL INITIATIVES

Emerging Leaders:

•	 In 2022, the program supported 
four participants from across the 
region. 

Metro Regional Assembly Females in 
Tennis Networking Event

•	 The event was held to encourage 
and promote female participation 
in the Regional Assembly. 

•	 38 women attended the event, 
which featured an Industry Panel 
Discussion with Lisa Ayres, Kim 
Birrell, Ricki Deutsch-Watson and 
Nicole Kenneally hosted by Elia 
Hill.

FLOOD RECOVERY

The Metro Regional Assembly Flood 
Support Grant Program was made 
available for application by all impacted 
clubs.

A total of $18,000 was distributed to 
support flood recovery at three centres 
(Pure Tennis Ferny Hills, Paul Hanley 
Tennis and Roy Emerson Tennis Centre)

M
E

T
R

O

G
O

L
D

 C
O

A
S

T

REGIONAL 
HIGHLIGHTS CONT.

NEW AFFILIATES
•	 Nepalese Australian Tennis Club 

(NFP Association)

•	 Club Coops (12 hardcourt)

•	 Somerville House (4 hardcourt)

•	 Gorby’s Enterprises (1 hardcourt)

NEW AFFILIATES
•Pimpama Sports Hub (8 court 
facility – managed by City of Gold 
Coast)

•Hope Island Tennis (13 court 
facility undergoing upgrades 
which include roof coverings for 
multiple courts)

GRANTS AND FUNDING

Over $4,265,000 in grants and funding 
secured for the region (2021/22).

GRANTS AND FUNDING

Over $612,000 in grants and funding 
secured for the region (2021/22).

FACILITY DEVELOPMENT
Over 16 projects, 10 new courts and 
22 upgraded courts for the 2021-2022 
across the region. 

DIGITAL ENABLEMENT
Click to the Court Project 

Six Gold Coast clubs have 
implemented/ are implementing the 
Click to the Court digital locking 
system, those six clubs being: 

•	 Talara Tennis Club 
•	 Beaudesert & District Tennis 

Association
•	 Hope Island Tennis Club
•	 Woongoolba Tennis Club
•	 Hinterland Tennis Club
•	 Ace Tennis Academy Gold Coast

REGIONAL INITIATIVES
Emerging Leaders:

•	 In 2022, the program supported 
eight participants from across the 
Gold Coast region. 

EVENT HIGHLIGHTS 
 
2022 Australian Teams 
Championship

•	 KDV Sport hosted the best up 

and coming juniors from across 

the country for the 2022 11/U, 

13/U, 15/U Australian Team 

Championships.  

Gold Coast Coloured Ball & 
JDS Circuit

•	 The Gold Coast Coloured 

Ball and Junior Development 

Series Circuit have seen strong 

participation with over 717 

participants competing across 

15 events (2021/22).

EVENT HIGHLIGHTS 
 
Taroom Red & Orange Ball 

•	 Second year event has been 

held – run by the club with the 

support of Tennis Queensland 

colour-ball resources.  

•	 200% increase in entries year 

on year.

FACILITY DEVELOPMENT
Key projects include: 

•	 Charleville $96K for resurfacing of 
courts and lighting upgrade

•	 Roma $100K resurfacing of 2 
courts

•	 In June $85K resurfacing of 2 
courts

•	 Texas $64K replace 2 x antbed 
courts with synthetic grass

•	 Tara $45K upgrade lighting on 
courts

REGIONAL INITIATIVES

Emerging Leaders:

•	 In 2022, the program supported 
six participants from across the 
region.
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NEW AFFILIATES
•	 Begonia Golf & Sports 

Association (Oct 2021)

•	 Moonie Sports Club (Oct 2021)

•	 Adventurers Tennis Club (Jan 

2022)

•	 Kooroongarra Tennis Club (April 

2022)
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CREATING SUSTAINABLE 
AND SUCCESSFUL 
FACILITIES

When talking with all levels of 
government, Tennis Queensland 
continues to place a strong 
emphasis on the need for 
developing new tennis facilities 
in areas of identified need and 
upgrading existing facilities. This 
is based on the current state-wide 
Strategic Plan (Queensland Tennis 
Facilities Plan 2028 – QTFP28) and 
the preparation of tailored individual 
Council Strategic Plans prepared 
over the last few years. We are now 
able to compliment these plans 
with additional demographic data 
from the Aura tool to better support 
our plans for additional new or 
expanded facilities to be developed 
in the areas of greatest current 

NEW FACILITY UPGRADES
Despite the challenging funding 
landscape, 2021-2022 saw 31 
new courts constructed as well 
as 174 courts upgraded. The total 
investment in these projects was 
approximately $16.5 million. Some 
of the more significant new and 
upgraded tennis facility projects 
completed this year included:

and future needs. The Aura tool 
allows us to better understand local 
demographics and the likeliness of 
play in local areas comparative to 
historic and locally collected data 
such as AusPlay.

The recent development of the 
Health Indicator of Tennis (HIT) 
Tool with Tennis Australia and the 
Member Associations will provide 
even greater insights to all levels 
of government as to the health of 
our sport and our clubs at a local, 
regional and state level. This tool 
looks at the health of a club in 
terms of participation, governance, 
infrastructure condition and financial 
sustainability. The forthcoming 
2022-23 financial year will see our 
Field Team working with our clubs 
primarily in 12 identified priority 
Councils (as identified in QTFP28) to 
complete HIT Tool and Venue Audits 

so we can provide vastly improved 
data to justify and advocate for 
the development of additional 
or expanded facilities in these 
locations.

Securing funding for new 
facilities and the upgrading of 
existing centres continues to be 
challenging in an environment where 
significantly less grant funding has 
been made available by all levels 
of government. The availability 
has been significantly impacted 
in the last two years due to the 
pandemic and a series of natural 
disasters. However, there has been 
some considerable progress in 
planning for identified significant 
future projects with some of our 
key councils and the Queensland 
Government.

CLUB/CENTRE/ASSOCIATION PROJECT

Northern Gold Coast Regional Sport Park 
at Pimpama

8 new courts as part of a large new 
community sports hub.

Narangba Tennis Club 6 new courts and new club house.

Weipa Sports Complex
3 new courts as part of a new indoor and 
outdoor sporting complex.

Samford Tennis Club 2 new courts. 

Tennis Townsville
Significant clubhouse redevelopment and 
extensions. 
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FACILITIES 
CONT.
COURT TECH
The Tennis Queensland Facilities 
Development Manager provides a 
considerable amount of technical 
advice and support to affiliates, 
schools, private court owners and 
all levels of government. This has 
ranged from answering simple 
questions by phone or email 
to clarify court dimensions and 
surfacing options through to more 
technical matters such as inspecting 
existing infrastructure to identify 
issues and solutions or undertaking 
lighting assessments.

More detailed and complex 
services for significant projects, 
such as the design of new facilities, 
development of construction 
specifications, design reviews and 
project management are provided 
on a fee for service basis through 
Tennis Queensland – Court Tech.

As a benefit of affiliation and 
to support all grant funding 
applications, Tennis Queensland 
also offers Quantity Surveyor 
Certified Estimates for all planned 
or proposed future projects. 
Providing these estimates at no cost 
ensures any budget establishment 
and subsequent grant funding 
applications submitted by our 
affiliates for their projects are based 
on:

•	 the correct amount of money 
required to complete the project 
properly (including allowances 
for project management, 
engaging specialist consultants 
where required, other 
applicable project costs / fees 
/ charges, cost escalation to 
a future construction date 
and appropriate contingency 
allowances), 

•	 using suitably qualified and 
experienced contractors to 
complete the works and basing 
the correct scope of works 

required for their site, to ensure 
a quality long term outcome. 

This service has taken the pressure 
off our affiliates to try and guess 
the required scope of works for 
their projects and obtain quotes 
from contractors that are often 
not prepared on the same basis. 
By adopting this process, we can 
ensure our clubs engage with 
reputable contractors at all stages of 
their project.

The industry also supports 
this process. When a funding 
grant opportunity arises, many 
contractors are typically being 
asked to provide quotes for 
hundreds of projects across 
numerous sports. Furthermore, 
most grant opportunities are heavily 
oversubscribed and many genuinely 
worthy projects are not able to be 
funded. Therefore, many of these 
quotes are for projects unlikely to 
proceed, which is frustrating for 
these contractors.

During the 2021-22 year, Court Tech 
prepared more than 90 Quantity 
Surveyor estimates for projects 

seeking funding from a range of 
grant programs offered by local 
governments, the state government 
(Active Gameday Projects, multiple 
rounds of the Gambling Community 
Benefit Fund, etc.) and the federal 
government (Building Better 
Regions, etc.). This has resulted in 
more than $1.5 million of funding 
secured for our clubs in 2021-2022. 

Court Tech is a registered 
business within Tennis Queensland 

offering a wide range of facilities 
development advisory and 
professional consultancy services 
as well as full project management 
for larger projects. In 2021-22 
Tennis Queensland - Court Tech 
consultancy services were provided 
on numerous projects involving both 
new tennis courts and facilities as 
well as the upgrading of existing 
courts. Those consultancies secured 
include: 

•	 project management for the 
reconstruction of 2 courts at 
Giru for the Burdekin Shore 
Council

•	 project management for the 
resurfacing of 11 courts across 4 
sites for the Somerset Regional 
Council

•	 design input for the 4 additional 
courts at Earlville Tennis Club for 
the Cairns Regional Council

•	 facility audits of 11 tennis and 
netball sites for the Moreton Bay 
Regional Council

•	 project management for the 
reconstruction of 7 tennis and 
netball courts at Moreton Bay 
College

•	 project management for the 
construction of 6 new courts at 
Cannon Hill Anglican College

•	 project management for LED 
lighting upgrades at Mareeba 
Tennis Club, Tennis Townsville 
and Sandgate District Youth 
Tennis Association funded via 
the Active Gameday Grants 
Program

•	 project management for 
LED lighting upgrades at the 
Rockhampton Regional Tennis 
Centre

•	 project management of lighting 
installations at The Range Tennis 
Club, Ingham District Tennis 
Association and Gumdale State 
School

COURT ACCESS 
TECHNOLOGY
Over the last 12 months, tennis has 
seen a shift towards utilising digital 
technologies to improve access 
to our sport. A major way this 
has been achieved is through the 
implementation of online technology 
to book and pay for tennis courts 
online.

Book a Court

The Book a Court system has been 
installed in 40 venues in Queensland 
to date and is top of the range 
in fully automated court access 
systems. This system comprises 
of an electronic keypad and lock 
installed to court gates with a 
unique 4-digit pin code provided for 
every booking, with court lighting 
functionality built in for evening 
bookings. 

Click to the Court

Recently, Tennis Queensland, was 
successful in securing an innovation 
grant from the Queensland 
Government to develop and install 
a more cost effective online and 
automated court access system 
for our clubs (refer to page 24). 
This more basic system involves 
the utilisation of the court booking 
module in the ClubSpark software 
system provided to affiliates for free. 
This links via an App to electronic 
padlocks installed to court gates. 

An extension of the padlock system 
has been made available for clubs 
to provide lighting automation for 
night-time bookings through the 
installation of an additional lighting 
control unit. 

With this new alternative becoming 
available, the Book a Court system 

suppliers will soon be releasing 
some more cost effective variants of 
their system that will be comparable 
in price to the electronic padlock 
and lighting control unit package 
now available. Any affiliated venue 
wishing to explore court access 
opportunities is encouraged 
to contact their local Tennis 
Development Officer for more 
information.
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QUEENSLAND  
TENNIS CENTRE
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The Queensland Tennis Centre (QTC) comprises of 23 
International standard courts that are available for both 
tournament and public use. The Centre court, Pat Rafter 
Arena features seating for 5.500 spectators, including 
20 corporate suites, several function rooms and player 
facilities. The QTC is managed by and home to the 
Tennis Queensland headquarters and Tennis Australia’s 
National Tennis Academy (NTA). The venue café 
(Baseline Café) and functions hospitality is currently 
serviced by Australian Catering Services (ACS).

Over the last financial year, the QTC has seen significant 
increases in patronage, events and venue utilisation, 
resulting in an increase in profits and investment back 
into Tennis Queensland.

2022 QUEENSLAND FLOODS

The QTC was severely impacted by the Queensland 
flood event in March 2022. The lasting impact of the 
floods has resulted in facility upgrades across the 
venue, extending into the remainder of the financial 
year. 

143,445
patrons on site

22.8%
increase in participation
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EVENTS & FUNCTIONS

•	 2022 Torian Pro Crossfit International 

Competition – Over 16,566 attendees (a record 

for the event)

•	 Monthly Band Night

•	 St Joesph’s Gregory Terrace - Battle of the 

Choirs

•	 Brisvegas Tournament LGBTQIA+

•	 ITF Queensland Wheelchair Open

•	 Queensland Blind and Low Vision Open

•	 Queensland Deaf and Hard of Hearing Open

•	 Queensland Players with Intellectual 

Impairments (PWII) Open



COACH  
DEVELOPMENT
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Coaching continues to see growth across Queensland 
with coach members and retention exceeding the 
previous year and the national average respectively. 
In addition to this growth, the Coaching Team has 
had a busy year on the road engaging coaches across 
the state through workshops, courses and site visits, 
whilst continuing to seek opportunities to coordinate 
complimentary initiatives to give back to the industry. 

493

74.5%

22

110

11

COACHING MEMBERS 
(up from 469 last year) 

COACHING RETENTION 
(National average 72.2%) 

WORKSHOPS 
(covering every region in QLD with 

809 coaches attending) 

SITE VISITS 

COURSES 
(were delivered with 126 coaches 

attending covering - Metro, Gold Coast, 
Sunshine Coast, Central, North and Far 

North regions) 
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HIGHLIGHTS



SCHOOLS 
HIGHLIGHTS
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The Tennis Queensland Schools Team has had another busy year overseeing the roll out of the ‘Tennis in Schools’ 
program across the state. This year, with the program firmly embedded in many schools, there has been a shift in 
focus to the transition of students participating in school based programs to a local club or coaching program.  
This has resulted in the establishment of the pilot program ‘Classroom to Club’ which has seen great success in 
engaging children with their local club and/or coach. 

HIGHLIGHTS

Tennis the #1 requested sport for Sporting Schools.

All-time record high of 649 partner schools.

91,159 students participated in curriculum based tennis in 2021/2022.

SCHOOLS SURVEY saw an 85% response rate for the annual Tennis in Schools Survey, which provided valuable insights to 
inform the strategic direction of all future schools based programs. 

ANZ RACQUET ROADSHOW saw over 4,500 prep students from 91 schools received a free racquet through the roadshow 
initiative.

TENNIS IN STATE SCHOOLS INITIATIVE (TISSI) saw $700,000 invested into improving tennis court facilities at schools 
through TISSI. This is a joint program partnership between Education Queensland, Tennis Queensland and Tennis Australia. 
Successful recipients include Currimundi State School, Daisy Hill State School, Elanora State High School, Graceville State 
School, North Arm State School, Virginia State School and Yeronga State School.

MOVEMENT DISORDER FOUNDATION FUNDING (MDF) saw over $10,000 invested into ‘Inclusion in Schools’ through the 
(MDF) program.

CLASSROOM TO CLUB pilot program was launched: 
 
School Hub Pilot
•	 Conducted on the Gold Coast with Gold Coast Albert Junior Tennis Club and Marymount Primary School, the program 

saw GCA coaches conduct tennis activities during PE lessons at the school and promoted a club based program, exclusive 
to students from Marymount Primary School.  

•	 Results  
GCA Tennis offered the program to 1000 students who participated in the PE lesson, with a signficant amount of students 
signing up to the program offered at the club. 

SCHOOLS  
HIGHLIGHTS
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OFFICIATING 
HIGHLIGHTS
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OFFICIATING  
HIGHLIGHTS
TOKYO OLYMPIC GAMES 
2020 (YEAR DELAY - JULY 
2021)
Tennis Queensland Officiating 
Development Coordinator Cheryl 
Jenkins headed off to her third 
Olympics in July 2021 as the 
Assistant Chief Umpire overseeing 
the tennis competition. Cheryl 
had previously officiated at the 
Sydney and Beijing Olympics and 
was Queensland’s only officiating 
representative in Tokyo.

2021 QUEENSLAND TENNIS 
AWARDS - EXCELLENCE IN 
OFFICIATING
The Excellence in Officiating Award 
is awarded to those who have made 
an outstanding contribution to 
tennis officiating in Australia and/or 
internationally.

2021 WINNERS - Geoff Arnell 
(Central region)

2021 FINALISTS: Katie Mckellar 
(Gold Coast region) and Eric Pretty 
(Metro region) 

2022 AUSTRALIAN SUMMER 
OF TENNIS
With interstate borders re-opening, 
several Queensland line umpires 
had the opportunity to return to 
the court on the international stage, 
officiating at professional events in 
Adelaide, Traralgon and Bendigo.

2022 AUSTRALIAN OPEN
Queenslander and Chief Umpire 
Cheryl Jenkins led the Australian 
Open Officials Team of 210 chair 
umpires, which included 136 
Australians and 74 internationals 
from 36 nations.

With the use of the electronic line 
calling (ELC) at this year’s Australian 
Open, there was a smaller group 
of Queensland officials compared 
with previous years. Everyone had a 
wonderful time and enjoyed being 
back at the happy slam, whether 
that was as a Match Assistant, Chair 
Umpire, Review Official or Chief 
Umpire. 

OFFICIATING 
DEVELOPMENT
JJ Wu - ITF White Badge Chair 
Umpire

Gold Coaster JJ Wu was successful 
in passing the Chair Umpire 
assessments at the ITF Level 2 
Officiating School held in Bendigo. 
JJ has now obtained an ITF White 
Badge, which is the highest 
national level and starting point for 
international recognition. 

Queensland based officials have 
continued to support many events 
hosted across the state throughout 
the year. Thank you to every official 
who has been courtside supporting 
local events and given their time to 
positively grow the game.



FIRST NATIONS  
HIGHLIGHTS

Tennis Queensland are committed to embracing 
diversity by ensuring our sport and events are 
welcoming, safe and inclusive for everyone. We 
believe that being inclusive is reflecting the diversity 
of our local communities and that everyone should 
have the opportunity to be included and engaged 
through tennis in a way that is positive and 
meaningful.

This past year, we have provided more opportunities 
for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples 
to participate and engage in tennis through 
the implementation of Indigenous participation 
programs, events and providing pathway 
opportunities. 
 

2021 Far North Indigenous Tennis Carnival - 
Mossman

Over 300 students from Mossman State School 
participated in the 2021 Far North Indigenous Tennis 
Carnival, held on Kuku Yalanji country. Students 
enjoyed a Welcome to Country and Smoking 
Ceremony from Jabalbina Yalanji, ANZ Hot Shots 
sessions delivered by Tennis Australia coaches, 
as well as spear throwing and traditional painting 
workshops. Unfortunately players were unable 
to have the opportunity to gain selection in the 
Queensland Team as the 2021 National Indigenous 
Tennis Carnival was cancelled due to the ongoing 
border closures as a result of the pandemic.

2022 Cairns Indigenous Tennis Carnival

The 2022 Cairns Indigenous Tennis Carnival, held on 
Gimuy Walaburra Yidinji and Yirrangangi Country, 
saw participants travel from Yarrahbah, Mossman and 
Cairns to partake in the annual event and celebrate 
Indigenous culture. Participants enjoyed a Welcome 
to Country and traditional smoking ceremony from 
local group Minjil , traditional Indigenous games led 
by Harbrow Mentoring and an afternoon full of tennis 
coaching from the team at Baseline Tennis Coaching 
Academy. Upon the conclusion of the event 12 
participants gained selection in the Queensland 
team, set to compete at the National Indigenous 
Tennis Carnival in Darwin later this year. 

2021 Mossman Indigenous Tennis 
Carnival

2022 Cairns Indigenous Tennis 
Carnival

2022 Cairns Indigenous Tennis 
Carnival
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2021 EVONNE GOOLAGONG CAWLEY  
HITTING WALL PROJECT - NOOSA

Wiradjuri woman Evonne Goolagong Cawley’s spectacular tennis career famously started in humble surrounds, when 
as a young girl she hit tennis balls against a wall in her backyard using a wooden bat her father crafted from an apple 
crate.

The achievements of the seven-time Grand Slam champion was celebrated as part of Tennis Australia’s artistic new 
initiative to showcase hitting walls around the country as part of a push to increase community participation in tennis. 
Goolagong Cawley officially launched the campaign at the Noosa Tennis Club, unveiling a stunning seven metre wide 
design featuring the work of Indigenous artist Maggie-Jean Douglas, a Gubbi Gubbi woman. The artwork incorporates 
references to Evonne’s totem, the goanna, and her last name, which means ‘tall trees by still water’, in a collaboration 
with renowned portrait artist Paink.

“I used to see how many times I could hit the ball against the wall, 
one bounce without making a mistake, then write the highest score 

in the dirt, then come back the next day and try and beat that score. 
And that’s how I got better and better each day.”
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INCLUSION  
HIGHLIGHTS

NATIONAL RESULTS #TEAMQLD
2021 Australian National Wheelchair Tennis Championship

Junior Benjamin Wenzel was crowned both the Junior Doubles and Mixed Doubles 
Champion at the 2021 event. 

2022 Australian Open Players with Intellectual Impairments (PWII) Finals

During the 2022 Australia Open, eight of Queensland’s top ranked Open and Junior 
Players headed to Melbourne Park to contest the Australian Open Players with 
Intellectual Impairments (PWII) Finals. The tournament is an invitational event, 
reserved for the top PWII players across Australia.

A strong contingent of Queensland players contested this year’s event with 
local talent, Archie Graham, Tim Gould and Hunter Thompson having strong 
performances in both the singles and doubles.

Australian Open PWII Champions 

CHAMPIONS

II-MENS SINGLES ARCHIE GRAHAM (QLD)

II-1 WOMEN’S SINGLES KELLY WREN (NSW)

II-2 OPEN SINGLES: TIMOTHY GOULD (QLD)

II-3 OPEN SINGLES HUNTER THOMPSON (QLD)

II-1 MEN’S DOUBLES ARCHIE GRAHAM (QLD) & DAMIAN PHILLIPS (NSW)

Queensland Australian Open PWII Representatives:

Archie Graham, Luke Barker, Mitchell James, Timothy Gould, Alex Baker, Hunter 
Thompson, Hayden Ballard, Nicolas Young. 

INTERNATIONAL 
2022 Wheelchair World Team Cup

The Australian Junior Wheelchair team, featuring Cairns local Benjamin Wenzel (Queensland), Riley Dumsday 
(Mornington, Victoria) and Saalim Naser (Roxburgh Park, Victoria) competed at 2022 BNP Paribas World Team 
Cup in Vilamoura, Portugal earlier this year. The team had a successful event, coming away as World Champions 
after defeating top seeds Great Britain 2-1.
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TALENT DEVELOPMENT  
Queensland National Development Squad – Inclusion (PWD) | Performance | Wheelchair

Across the year State Development Squad Coach – Inclusion (PWD), Performance, Wheelchair, Alison Scott has 
facilitated the junior talent squads for sports classes: Wheelchair, Blind/Low Vision, Deaf or Hard of Hearing and 
Intellectual Impairment (including intellectual disability, Down Syndrome and Autism).

2022 CHAMPIONS

OPEN A SINGLES: GLEN FLINDELL (VIC)

OPEN B SINGLES: ASHLEE NARKER (NSW)

JUNIOR SINGLES: RHYLEE JACKSON (QLD)

2022 AUSTRALIAN OPEN DEAF OR HARD OF HEARING (DHOH) FINALS

A strong contingent of Queensland’s best Deaf or Hard of Hearing (DHoH) tennis players were invited to travel 
down to Melbourne Park to compete at the 2022 Australian Open DHoH Finals. Queenslanders Rhylee Jackson 
and Jaime Zafir contested this year’s event, with Rhylee taking out the DHoH Junior Singles Title.

Tennis Queensland hosts a number of inclusive events, which attract local and interstate players from around 
the country. Our inclusive pathways and events provide competitive play opportunities for our diverse 
community including; wheelchair players, players with an intellectual impairment (PWII), players who are deaf 
or hard of hearing (DHoH), blind and/or low vision players (BLV) and the indigenous community. These events 
are tailored to the competitors to enable a safe and inclusive environment for all participants
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WOMEN & GIRLS
38 Tennis Queensland  |  Annual Report  |  2021-2022

2022-2024 Women and Girls Strategy was finalised and rolled out across all corners of the state.

EVENTS

Beenleigh Tennis Centre Women and Girls Event

•	 The Beenleigh Tennis Centre hosted an event for women and girls 
which featured a morning of on and off the court activities, followed 
by a panel discussion with professional tennis player Lizette Cabrera, 
Rob Barty, father of former World No.1 Ash Barty, Ros Birrell – mother 
of professional tennis player Kim Birrell and Australian Open Chief 
Umpire Cheryl Jenkins.

New Professional Development Opportunities for Females in Coaching

•	 New offerings were made available to support 115 female Tennis Australia 
Coach Members through networking, workshop and mentoring opportunities. 
 

Launch of the Women Leaders in Tennis Program | Queensland

•	 The Women Leaders in Tennis Program is a 4-month program, funded by Tennis 
Australia that focuses on professionally developing our female community 
leaders in tennis. 

•	 44 women participating in the program across Brisbane and Cairns.

Launch of Pilot Program – Tennis Match Ups

•	 Program designed to give girls aged 8 – 13 years an opportunity to 
begin playing tennis matches in a fun, team environment.

•	 Pilot clubs: Brookfield Tennis Centre (18 participants) and Beenleigh 
Tennis Centre (12 participants).

Females in Tennis Camps

•	 6 camps were held across Queensland (Rockhampton, Hervey Bay, 
Mackay, Toowoomba, Cairns and Townsville). 

•	 154 girls took part in the training sessions delivered by elite coaches.

Canterbury (Gold Coast) Junior Series Girls Only Tournament

•	 26 girls participated in the UTR Competitive play event. 

•	 The day featured information sessions on the opportunities for women 
and girls in tennis, competitive play and a presentation from guest 
speaker Nicole Keneally on US College Pathways.

WOMEN AND GIRLS
STRATEGY



COMPETITIVE 
PLAY
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2021/22 saw the 2020/21 Competitive Play Review and its 
recommendations come to fruition with the launch of a 
new Competitive Play Framework and Calendar rolled out 
across the country. 

Although the pandemic presented some unfamiliar 
challenges, it gave Tennis an opportunity to review its 
current landscape and reflect upon player pathways. This 
resulted in the Competitive Play Review. 

Tennis Australia, alongside Tennis Queensland developed 
with much consultation the competitive play blueprint, 
with a focus on how to increase competitive participation, 
reduce the confusion of ratings and rankings and increase 
local opportunities for players. 

Queensland also took this opportunity to consult with a 
diverse group of stakeholders across the state and formed 
Regional Assembly Competitive Play Working Groups who 
were the voice of the regions. By having regional input, 
Tennis Queensland was able to ensure that stakeholders 
had the opportunity to co-create calendars and playing 
opportunities that met the needs of Queensland players, 
with a tailored approach taken across for each region. 

Following the Competitive Play review, the Universal 
Tennis Rating (UTR) was embedded into the tennis 
competitive offering, with player ratings being used for 
event acceptance and seeding. 

Through a series of workshops, pathways and products 
were established in a pre-emptive move to strengthen and 
compliment the Queensland tennis landscape. Alongside 
all tournaments, leagues and fixture competitions were 
included into measuring a player rating. 

This allowed the UTR system to capture all tournament, 
league and fixture matches to be measured and counted 
toward a players rating. Due to this, there is now a strong 
appetite for our affiliates to have their fixture match 
results recorded in League Manager and allow their 
players to develop their rating at their local club on a 
regular basis. 

Tennis Queensland is in constant collaboration with the 
regions and Match Play Committee to ensure that we 
continue to build and improve our calendar for future 
years to come under the new rating system. 

COMPETITIVE PLAY
REVIEW
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The pandemic proved to be the biggest challenge for events in 2021 with snap lock-downs, COVID-19 outbreaks and 
border closures causing challenges for both players and event organisers. 

This unfortunately resulted in a number of annual events being cancelled, including the Junior Teams Carnival and 
Queensland Open (partially played, not unable to finish). Despite facing adversity, organisers were resilient and 
endeavoured to ensure there were adequate playing opportunities for players with additional events added to the 
calendar. 

2022 saw the launch of a new competitive play calendar in line with the recommendations from the Competitive Play 
Review and Regional Assembly Competitive Play Working Groups.

114 5172 19,470
TOURNAMENTS & 

EVENTS
TOURNAMENT & EVENT 

COMPETITORS
TOURNAMENT & EVENT 

ENTRIES

COMPETITIVE PLAY
TOURNAMENTS & EVENTS
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Tennis Queensland coordinates several events throughout the year, with the remainder managed by our affiliated 
bodies.

2021 ROD LAVER CHAMPIONSHIPS

The 2021 Rod Laver Series was fortunate enough to 
go ahead due to the many challenges encountered 
from lockdowns and border closures due to wet 
weather. The event still managed to provide plenty 
of match play opportunities for competitors, who 
were incredibly patient and understanding under the 
challenging circumstances. 

BY THE NUMBERS

ROD LAVER JUNIOR 
CHAMPIONSHIP WINNER FINALIST

Mens Special Singles Plate Blake Ellis Maverick Banes

Mens Special Singles Shield Tomislav Papac Winter Meagher

Womens Special Singles Plate Alexandra Bozovic Jade Otway

Womens Special Singles Shield Thamara Frasser Dilana Rsovac

16 & U Boys Singles Hayden Jones Michael Kokkinis

16 & U Girls Singles Powell, Taya Gossow, Jemma

16 & U Boys Doubles Alexander Despoja + Hayden Jones Kaito Nelson + Marcus Schoeman

16 & U Girls Doubles Tianyu Dong + Piper Freeman Emilia Schmidt + Sydney Stone

14 & U Boys Singles Hugh Winter Oliver King

14 & U Girls Singles Emerson Jones Leanne Abouhamad

14 & U Boys Doubles Noah Brownrigg + Hugh Winter Rohan Hazratwala + Jack White

14 & U Girls Doubles Emerson Jones + Yelena Kelleher Leanne Abouhamad + Nicola 
Schoeman

12 & U Boys Singles Cody Atkinson Connor Mcevoy

12 & U Girls Singles Georgia Campbell Liza Mirskaya

12 & U Boys Doubles Cody Atkinson + Asher Brownrigg Blaise Allan + Noah Quinlan

12 & U Girls Doubles Frangipani Tsai + Valenova Tsai Eva Crawford + Leana 
Nannapaneni

10 & U Boys Green Ball Vivaan Nehra Christian Joseph

10 & U Girls Green Ball Zoe Atley Ava Garner

10 & U Boys Doubles Green Ball Daniel Abar + Vivaan Nehra Flynn Pociask + Reynolds Ryder

10 & U Girls Doubles Green Ball Hope Johns + Chloe Vu Sofia Caldwell + Ava Garner

ROD LAVER BRONZE WINNER FINALIST

16 & U Boys Singles Jackson Treacy Zachary Riley

16 & U Girls Singles Sylvie Peart Danielle Badman

16 & U Boys Doubles Kody Baker + Hudson Baxter Taichi Sato + Conor Whitby

16 & U Girls Doubles Pieta Low + Nicole Trofimczyk Sylvie Peart + Ebonie Russell

16 & U Mixed Doubles Nicola & Marcus Schoeman
Christian Caldwell + Naais Russell-

Jove

14 & U Boys Singles Radu Cojocaru Max Richardson

14 & U Girls Singles Marielou Baudouin Akshaya Puttamreddy

14 & U Boys Doubles Tristan Stock + John Turner Chand Dunn + Ko Urayama

14 & U Girls Doubles Grace Cadwallader + Samantha Mills Marielou Baudouin + Jade Cherry

14 & U Mixed Doubles Kuma Ito + Stephanie Tang Daniel Lemmon-Warde + Helena 
Guan

12 & U Boys Singles William Genberg Will Fletcher

12 & U Girls Singles Gina Cha Gabriella Durinic

12 & U Boys Doubles Zayden Gallagher + Noah Pociask Aaron Alphonso + Troy Lee

12 & U Girls Doubles Caitlan Bourke + Gabriela Durinic Isabella Aparicio + Elise Virr

12 & U Mixed Doubles Georgia Campbell + Asher Brownrigg Noah Quinlan + Caitlan Bourke

10 & U Boys Green Ball Ben Spotswood Luke Dixon

TOURNAMENTS & EVENTS
RESULTS

8 1866 3823 28,838 130,799
DAYS MATCHES SETS TOURNAMENT & EVENT 

ENTRIES
MINUTES OF TENNIS



2022 ASHLEY COOPER OPEN AGE 
CHAMPIONSHIPS WINNER FINALIST

Open Mens Singles Tier 1 Marcus Schoeman Joshua Ryan 

Open Mens Singles Tier 2 Rohan Hazratwala Cruz Hewitt

Open Mens Singles Tier 3 Benjamin Chai Padraic Townsend

Open Mens Singles Tier 4 Sam Hiley Connor Ross

Open Womens Singles Tier 1 Lara Walker Laquisa Khan 

Open Womens Singles Tier 2 Bella-Grace Melov Lindsay Baker

Open Womens Singles Tier 3 Jade Cherry Stephanie Abbott

Open Mens Doubles Tier 1 Noah Brownrigg & Ben Waugh Kanika Jayathilake & Macarthur Swain

Open Mens Doubles Tier 2 Marcel East & Gordon Ka Yiu Leung Eamon Gerrard-Stace & Sebastian 
Huggins

16 & U Boys Singles – Tier 1 Taiki Takizawa Adam James

16 & U Boys Singles – Tier 2 Juanu Jonck Naia Coyle

16 & U Girls Singles – Tier 1 Valenova Tsai Alexandra Edwards 

16 & U Boys Doubles Angus Cook & Adam James Taiki Takizawa & Andre Rafael Tumala

16 & U Girls Doubles Alexandra Horvath & Mia Wilkinson Alexandra Edwards & Valenova Tsai

14 & U Boys Singles – Tier 1 Samarth Patel Jake Mckiernan

14 & U Boys Singles – Tier 2 Zachary Chai Xingyue Huang

14 & U Girls Singles – Tier 1 Elise Virr Heidi Madjer 

14 & U Girls Singles – Tier 2 Tayla Hunter-Geppert Kirra Bennett

14 & U Boys Doubles David Twigg & Taj Wilson Antoni Luo & Kevin Luo

14 & U Girls Doubles Heidi Madjer & Summer Osborne Mia Bourke & Tori Russell

12 & U Boys Singles – Tier 1 Jake Tyson Spurrell Lachlan Rye

12 & U Boys Singles – Tier 2 Christian Joseph Cruz Stevens

12 & U Boys Singles – Tier 3 Jake Karathra Alastair Gordon

12 & U Boys Singles – Tier 3 Thoma Bogatyrev Jason Edlinger

12 & U Girls Singles – Tier 1 Ana Popovich [1] Hope Ashleigh Johns [3]

12 & U Girls Singles - Tier 2 Isabella Crilly Annamaria Pavlich

12 & U Boys Doubles Lachlan Rye & Christian Vu Charlie Mulligan & Jake Tyson 
Spurrell

12 & U Girls Doubles Hope Ashleigh Johns & Chloe Vu Ava Garner & Alexis Williams

10 & U Boys Green Ball Aydin Anwardeen Jasper Ten Bohmer

10 & U Girls Green Ball Cleo Taylor Kira Russell

2022 MAL ANDERSION 
CHAMPIONSHIP WINNER FINALIST

18 & U Girls Singles Ella Simmons Danielle Badman

18 & U Girls Doubles Danielle Badman & Ella Simmons Lacey Bourke & Hannah Thornton

16 & U Boys Singles – Tier 1 Joshua Barnard Aidan Massingham

14/16 & U Boys Singles Combined James Baskara Mitchell Ellem

16 & U Girls Singles Hannah Thornton Mia Hisashi-Morrissey

16 & U Boys Doubles Joshua Barnard & Aidan Massingham Jayden Cutmore & Archie Mills

14 & U Boys Singles – Tier 1 Noah Kim Antonio Yoeum

14 & U Girls Singles Juliet Santitto Sofia Savic

14 & U Boys Doubles Noah Quinlan & Aiden Serifovic William Genberg & Noah Kim

14 & U Girls Doubles Milly Bonassi & Heidi Madjer Acalia Shamim & Isabella Welsh

12 & U Boys Singles – Tier 1 Charlie Mulligan Reuben Wagels

12 & U Boys Singles – Tier 2 Ryan White Timmy Marshall

12 & U Girls Singles Yana Lavrentiev Ceressa Jackson

12 & U Boys Doubles Thomas Mcleish & Reuben Wagels Charlie Mulligan & Jye Van Dijk

12 & U Girls Doubles NA NA

10 & U Boys Green Ball Thoma Bogatyrev Andrew Mather

10 & U Girls Green Ball Sofia (Gigi) Caldwell Emilia Scott

10 & U Boys Doubles Green Ball Rafe Croll & William Fyfe Thoma Bogatyrev & Jordan Bolger

10 & U Girls Doubles Green Ball Emilia Scott & Isla Slatter Tamanna Ahlawat & Alexis Berndt

PREMIER SERIES
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TOURNAMENTS & EVENTS
RESULTS



SIGNATURE SERIES
2022 Queensland Open

The 2022 Queensland Open saw 254 players making up 
407 entries, in 17 events, playing 358 matches on 29 courts 
across 2 venues over 5 daysand rankings and increase local 
opportunities for players. 

RESULTS WINNER

Women Singles Lily Taylor

Mens Singles Thomas Fancutt

Womens Doubles Tianyu Dong + Sara Nayar

Mens Doubles Alec Braund + Jack Dixon

RESULTS
CONT.

Clay Court National Championships

•	 20 Queenslanders accepted into the main draw of the 
Clay Court National Championships in the 12s & 14s 
teams, in Canberra, ACT.

Zone Squads

•	 45 players attended from across Brisbane Metro, 
Sunshine Coast and Gold Coast.

•	 50 Players attended a Match Play Camp.

Queensland Super 10s

•	 16 boys and 16 girls gained selection to be a part of a 
team competition, held 4 times across the year (led by 

Glenn Hamilton, and Isabella Fede).

11/U National Camp (Melbourne)

•	 5 Queenslanders were selected to participate in a 
National Camp squad of 16 players selected nationally. 

•	 PLAYERS: Vittorio Golda, Vivaan Nehra, Kevion Lou, 
Ceressa Jackson, Danica Todorovic

•	 COACHING TEAM: Wayne Guse, Clint Charles, and 
Isabella Fede. 

2022 National European Tour

•	 12U Tour: Lucas Han, Taiki Takazawa, Heaton Pann, 
Samarth Patel

•	 13U Tour: Georgia Campbell, Connor McEvoy

•	 14U Tour: Emerson Jones

Australian Representation and World Juniors 
Team 2022

•	 Emerson Jones (Junior Billie Jean King Cup Team - 16 
and under girls & )

•	 Talia Kokkinis (World Junior Tennis - 14 and under 
girls)

•	 Lily Taylor (Junior Billie Jean King Cup Team - 16 and 
under girls)

•	 Hayden Jones (Junior Davis Cup - 16 and under boys)
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NATIONAL DEVELOPMENT SQUAD
The National Development Squad (NDS) oversees the selection and development of players aged 8-18 through 
zone and squad programs. The NDS acts as a springboard into the National Tennis Academy by developing high 
performance players in their younger years.

127

584

2950

21,000

7000

95,000

NUMBER OF LEAGUES

NUMBER OF DIVISIONS

TOTAL TEAMS

TOTAL MATCHES

TOTAL UNIQUE PLAYERS

TOTAL SETS

LEAGUES

Tennis Queensland  |  Annual Report  |  2021-202248



#TEAM QUEENSLAND
MEN ATP RANKINGS

WOMEN WTA RANKINGS

#85 JOHN MILLMAN 

(#306 DOUBLES)

#178 OLIVIA GADECKI #44 AJLA TOMLJANOVIĆ 

(#128 DOUBLES)

#99 JASON KUBLER 

(#343 DOUBLES)

#188 PRISCILLA HON 

#380 AKIRA SANTILLIAN

(#295 DOUBLES)

#192 LIZETTE CABRERA

Individual player results can be found on the ATP website.

Individual player results can be found on the WTA website.

ITF World Tennis Tour Junior Rankings
ITF World Tennis Tour Junior Rankings can be found on the ITF website.
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#493 SAMANTHA STOSUR 

(#11 DOUBLES)

#384 DANE SWEENEY

(#206 DOUBLES)

#431 OLIVIA TJANDRAMULIA

(#148 DOUBLES)

#505 BERNARD TOMIC

#469 KIMBERLEY BIRRELL
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https://www.atptour.com/en/players
https://www.wtatennis.com/players
https://www.itftennis.com/en/itf-tours/world-tennis-tour-juniors/


ASH BARTY
World No.1 (year-end 2021)

2021 Wimbledon Champion

2021 Western & Southern Open

2021 Ashley Cooper Medal - Athlete of the Year, Queensland Tennis Awards

2021 Newcombe Medal, Australian Tennis Awards (shared with Dylan Alcott)

2021 TOKYO Olympic Games Australian Tennis Team (Bronze Medal in the Mixed Doubles)

2022 Adelaide International (Singles & Doubles)

2022 Australian Open

World No.1 Ash Barty continued a remarkable year, with impressive form at Wimbledon, winning her second 
major title and becoming the first Australian Ladies Singles Champion since her mentor Evonne Goolagong 
Cawley in 1980.

In her first Olympic Games, Barty joined forces with John Peers in Tokyo to claim bronze in the mixed 
doubles event. It was Australia’s first-ever medal in mixed doubles.

Barty then won a tour-leading fifth title for 2021 in Cincinnati, before ending her season after a third-round 
exit at the US Open.

Barty secured the year-end world No.1 ranking for the third straight year, an accomplishment matched 
only by legends Steffi Graf, Martina Navratilova, Chris Evert and Serena Williams, and spent more than 100 
weeks at the top of the WTA Tour rankings.

Barty opened the 2022 season making history as the first Australian woman to win the Australian Open in 
44 years since Chris O’Neil in 1978 by Defeating American 27th Seed Danielle Collins (6-3,7-6(2)) in straight 
sets. Ash put on a dominant display, clawing her way back from 5-1 down in the second set to take the 
Championship in a thrilling tie-break.

After an extraordinary start to the year, Ash went on to formally announce her retirement from tennis, 
marking the end of her performance career. We thank Ash for her commitment and contribution to the 
game, which we know will continue to be felt for generations to come.
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SAM STOSUR
2021 FINALIST Ashley Cooper Medal - Athlete of the Year, Queensland Tennis Awards

2021 FINALIST - Newcombe Medal, Australian Tennis Awards

2021 TOKYO Olympic Games Australian Tennis Team - 5th Olympic Games

2021 US OPEN - CHAMPION -  Women’s Doubles

2022 FINAIST - Australian Open Mixed Doubles

Gold Coaster Sam Stosur’s retirement from singles at the Australian Open was another historic moment in the 
calendar. The former world No.4 and 2011 US Open Women’s Singles Champion had an impressive singles career and 
we look forward to watching her continued success in the doubles.

THANKS SAM
Congratulations on an incredible singles career!
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2021 ROD LAVER DAY

Queenslanders were encouraged to don their Wimbledon whites on July 8 in celebration of Rod Laver Day.

The day honoured Queensland’s most successful tennis player and coincided with the 60th anniversary of Rod 
Laver’s first Wimbledon title.

Clubs, tournaments and even players on home courts got involved with the celebrations by donning their Wimbledon 
whites and having a rally like rod, with their best wooden racquets!

Laver, born in Rockhampton in 1938, won 11 Grand Slam singles titles and nine Grand Slam doubles titles, spanning a 
24 year career as an amateur and professional player.

Known widely as the ‘Rocket’, he was ranked world No. 1 in nine different years, which is an all-time record in tennis. 
He is the only player to win all four grand slams in the same calendar year twice.

Celebrating 60 years since Rod Laver won his maiden 
Wimbledon Championship! 
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REWARD &
RECOGNITION
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QUEENSLAND TENNIS AWARDS
Tennis in Queensland would not exist without the passionate tennis community. Tennis Queensland is proud to be 
able to recognise and celebrate the achievements of the tennis community each year at the Queensland Tennis 
Awards, President’s Evening and Newcombe Medal, Australian Tennis Awards.

AWARD WINNER
Queensland Club of the Year Redcliffe Tennis 

Association

Coaching Excellence Club Tim Low

Coaching Excellence Performance Ryan Kebblewhite

Coaching Excellence Talent Development Shayne Tabb

Most outstanding Athlete with a Disability Timothy Gould

Most Outstanding 35+ Senior Karryn Cyprien

Excellence in Officiating Geoff Arnell

Most Outstanding School Kelvin Grove State 
College

Most Outstanding Australian Ranking 
Tournament

Head Stage Age

Eddie Machin Junior Regional Athlete of the 
Year

Alec Baund

Regional Shield Gold Coast

Wendy Turnbull Medal - Male Junior Athlete 
of the Year

Philip Sekulic

Wendy Turnbull Medal - Female Junior of 
the Year

Lily Taylor

Ashley Cooper Medal - Athlete of the Year Ashleigh Barty

Geoffrey Cooper Medal - Lifetime Volunteer 
Achievement Award

Lionel Walsh
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2022 TENNIS QUEENSLAND’S PRESIDENTS EVENING  
VOLUNTEER SERVICE AWARDS (10+ YEARS OF SERVICE)

The Tennis Queensland Volunteer Service Awards are awarded to those who have volunteered for over 10 years and 
who consistently work to positively improve tennis in their club, region and state. All recipients of this award have 
been nominated by their clubs and the wider tennis community.

RECIPIENTS

Alison Peters Miami Tennis Club

Leigh Edwards Miami Tennis Club

Rob Schmitt Pomona Tennis Club

Bob Campbell Queensland Tennis Club
Peta Davis Greater Brisbane Junior Tennis Association
Stephen Kua Pro One Tennis
Kathy Martin Innisfail District Tennis Association
Leon Awee Innisfail District Tennis Association
Marion Sellwood Trinity Beach Tennis Club

David “Lefty” Wright Pioneer Tennis

Betty James Charters Towers Tennis Club
Col Ackland Kawana Tennis Club
Ron Graham Yeppoon Tennis Club
Patricia Peach Rockhampton Junior Tennis Association

Bruce Rayner Maryborough & District Junior Tennis  
Association



REWARD & RECOGNITION 
CONT.

AWARDS QUEENSLAND FINALISTS

Newcombe Medal
Ash Barty  
Sam Stosur 

Coaching Excellence - Club Tim Low (Redland Bay Tennis Club)

Coaching Excellence - Performance
Wayne Arthurs  
Craig Tyzzer 

Female Junior Athlete of the Year Lily Taylor

Male Junior Athlete of the Year Philip Sekulic

Most Outstanding Athlete with a Disability Timothy Gould 

Most Outstanding Professional Tournament 2021 Head QLD Stage Age

Volunteer Achievement Award Keith Daly

2021 NEWCOMBE MEDAL | AUSTRALIAN TENNIS AWARDS
The Newcombe Medal, Australian Tennis Awards is the highest honour in Australian Tennis and the most 
prestigious awards amongst the tennis community.
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QUEENSLAND WINNERS
Queensland was fortunate enough to celebrate three winners at the 2021 Newcombe Medal, Australian Tennis 
Awards.

ASH BARTY – 2021 NEWCOMBE MEDAL

Ash Barty took home the Newcombe Medal (dual recipient with Dylan Alcott) after an outstanding season which saw 
her secure the year-end World No.1 ranking for a third straight year, Australia Female No.1, reigning 2021 Wimbledon 
Champion, Tokyo Olympics Mixed Doubles Bronze medallist and five titles for 2021.  years to come under the new 
rating system. 

TIMOTHY GOULD – 2021 MOST OUTSTANDING ATHLETE WITH A DISABILITY

Ash Barty took home the Newcombe Medal (dual recipient with Dylan Alcott) after an outstanding season which saw 
her secure the year-end World No.1 ranking for a third straight year, Australia Female No.1, reigning 2021 Wimbledon 
Champion, Tokyo Olympics Mixed Doubles Bronze medallist and five titles for 2021.  

PHILIP SEKULIC – 2021 MALE JUNIOR ATHLETE OF THE YEAR

Philip Sekulic took out the Male Junior Athlete of the Year award. The award follows an impressive season for Philip 
who made his junior Grand Slam debut at Roland Garros, Wimbledon and the US Open, as well as a career high ITF 
Junior ranking of World No.22. Sekulic won more than 30 matches across the season at junior level events and made 
back-to-back ITF Futures finals in India. 
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QUEENSLAND TENNIS COMMUNITY 
AFFILIATED CLUBS, CENTRES & ASSOCIATIONS

FAR NORTH REGION
Atherton Tennis Club Inc

Cairns International Tennis Centre

Cairns Tennis Club Inc

Clifton Beach Tennis Club Inc

Cooktown Tennis Club Inc

Dimbulah Tennis Club Inc

Earlville Tennis Club Inc

Edge Hill Tennis Club Inc

Edmonton Tennis Club Inc

Freshwater Tennis Club Inc

Innisfail District Tennis Association Inc

Malanda Tennis Club Inc

Mareeba Tennis Club Inc

Mission Beach Tennis Club Inc

Mossman Squash and Tennis Club

Port Douglas Tennis Club Inc

Ravenshoe Tennis Club Inc

Redlynch Valley Tennis Club Inc

RTA Weipa Pty Ltd

Trinity Beach Tennis Club Inc

Tully Tennis and Social Club Inc

Woree Tennis Club Inc

Yungaburra Tennis Club Inc

NORTH REGION
Ayr Tennis Association Inc

Bowen Tennis Association Inc

Calen Tennis Association Inc

Charters Towers Tennis Club Inc

Cleveland Tennis Club Inc

Flinders Tennis Club Inc

Home Hill Tennis Association Inc

Ingham Tennis Association Inc

Kalynda Chase Tennis Centre

Mackay Tennis Association Inc

Moranbah Tennis Association Inc

Pioneer Tennis Inc

Proserpine District Lawn Tennis Assoc Inc

Sarina & District Tennis Association Inc

Tennis Townsville Inc

Tennis Whitsunday

Western Suburbs Tennis Club Inc

CENTRAL REGION
Agnes Water Tennis

Athelstane Tennis Club

Baralaba Tennis Club Inc

Blackwater Tennis Association Inc

Bundaberg & District Junior Tennis 
Association Inc

Bundaberg & District Tennis Association Inc

Bundaberg Seniors Tennis Club Inc

Callide Valley Tennis Association Inc

Capella Tennis Club Inc

Clermont & District Tennis Association Inc

Dingo Tennis Club Inc

Dysart Tennis Club Inc

Emerald and District Lawn Tennis 
Association Inc

Emu Park Gym & Swim

Fraser Coast Tennis Association Inc

Gayndah & District Tennis Assoc Inc

Gladstone District Tennis Association Inc

Hervey Bay & District Tennis Association Inc

Isis Tennis Club

Maryborough & District Junior Tennis 
Association Inc

Middlemount Community Sports 
Association Inc

Moura Tennis Club Inc

Mundubbera Tennis Association Inc

Rockhampton Junior Tennis Association Inc

Rockhampton Tennis Association Inc

Rolleston Tennis Club

Rossendale Tennis Club Inc

Springsure Tennis Club Inc

SunCity Sports Club Inc

Tannum Sands Tennis Association Inc

Tennis Rockhampton Ltd

Theodore Tennis Association Inc

Yeppoon Tennis Club Inc.

SUNSHINE COAST REGION
Andrew Kratzman Tennis Academy

Ballinger Park Tennis Club

Blackbutt Tennis Club Inc

Bli Bli Tennis Club Inc

Bribie Island Tennis Club Inc

Caboolture & District Lawn Tennis 
Association Inc

Caloundra Tennis Association Inc

Coolum Tennis Club Inc

Cooroy Tennis Club Inc

Eudlo & District Tennis Association Inc

Eumundi Tennis Club Inc

Gheerulla Tennis Club

Glenn Irwin Tennis Academy

Glenview Mooloolah Tennis Club Inc

Gympie & District Tennis Association

Gympie Queens Park Tennis Club Inc

Kandanga Tennis Club Inc

Kawana Tennis Club Inc

Kilcoy District Tennis Association 

Kin Kin Tennis Club Inc

Kingaroy & District Tennis Association Inc

Landsborough Tennis Club Inc

Maleny Tennis Club

Mapleton Tennis Club Inc.

Maroochydore Tennis Club Inc

Montville Village Association Inc

Mooloolaba Tennis Club Inc.

Murgon & District Tennis Association

Nambas Tennis Club Inc

Nambour & District Tennis Association Inc

Noosa Tennis Club Inc

Noosaville Tennis Club Inc

Palmwoods Tennis Club Inc

Peregian Tennis Club Inc

Pomona Tennis Club

Suncoast Christian College

Sunshine Coast Grammar School

Sunshine Coast Ladies Midweek Tennis 
Association

Tansey Tennis Club Inc.

Tennis Veterans Sunshine Coast Association 
Inc

Tewantin Tennis Club Inc

Tin Can Bay Tennis Club Inc

Witta Tennis Club Inc

Woombye Tennis Club Inc

Yandina Tennis Club

METROPOLITAN REGION
Aspire Tennis Australia

Brisbane Boys College

Brisbane Ladies Tennis Association Inc

Brisbane Night Tennis Association Inc

Brisbane Seniors Tennis Club

Brookfield Tennis Centre

Cambridge Tennis

Chandler Tennis Centre

Club Coops

Dayboro Tennis Club Inc

Everton Tennis & Gear

Fancutts Junior Tennis Club

Ferny Hills Tennis Centre

Frawley Racquet Club

Fred Daniel Tennis

Greater Brisbane Junior Tennis Association 
Inc

Griffith University Tennis Centre

Guse’s Tennis Centre (Metro Region)

In Tennis

Ipswich & West Moreton Tennis Association 
Inc

Ipswich District Junior Tennis Association 
Inc

Ipswich Tennis Centre

Kangaroo Point Sports and Tennis Club 

Kelvin Grove State College

Laff’s Tennis 

LifeTime International Pty Ltd

Lifetime Tennis Brisbane West Pty Ltd

Malpass Tennis Coaching

Marsden Tennis Centre

Matchpoint Tennis

Northside Ladies Tennis Club

Park Ridge Tennis Centre

Paul Hanley Tennis

Pine Country Tennis Centre

Queensland School Sport

Queensland Tennis Centre

Redcliffe Tennis Association Inc

Redland Bay Tennis Club Inc

Redlands Lawn Tennis Association Inc

Remar Tennis Academy

Return Serve Inc

Roy Emerson Tennis Centre

Samford Tennis Club Inc

Sandgate and District Youth Tennis 
Association

Shaw Park Tennis Centre

Sheldon Tennis Centre

Sportennis (Le Victor Pty Ltd/Daily 
Sporting Pty Ltd)

Springfield Lakes Tennis Club Inc

St Paul’s School

Steve & Trish Griffin

Sunnybank Tennis Centre

Sunshine Tennis 

Tall Gums Sports Centre

Tennis Brisbane

Tennis Ipswich Inc

Tennis Logan City

Tennis Officials Australia Qld Div Inc

Tennis Seniors Queensland Association Inc

The Gap Health & Racquet Club

The QLD Community Lawn Tennis Assoc 
(QCLTA)

The University of Queensland Tennis Club 
Inc

Thorneside Community Tennis Association 
Inc

Top Tennis Academy

University of Queensland Tennis Centre

West Brisbane Tennis Centre

Woods Tennis

Wynnum District Lawn Tennis Association 
Inc

GOLD COAST REGION
Australia Tennis Academy

Beaudesert & District Tennis Association 
Inc

Beenleigh Tennis Inc

Breakpoint Tennis

Burleigh Heads Tennis Club Inc

Currumbin Tennis Club Inc

Discovery Park Tennis Club Inc

Emerald Lakes Tennis Centre

Fassifern Tennis Association Inc

Gold Coast Albert Junior Tennis Club Inc

Gold Coast Mid-Week Ladies Tennis 
Association Inc

Gold Coast Seniors Tennis Club Inc

Hinterland Tennis Club Inc

Hope Island Tennis Club Inc

Miami Tennis Club Inc

Mudgeeraba Tennis Club

Palm Beach-Currumbin State High School

Pimpama Island Sports Association Inc.

Pro-One Tennis Academy

Somerset College Tennis Centre

Southport State High School

St Hilda’s School (Pure Tennis Academy)

Surfers Paradise Tennis and Fitness

Tallara Tennis Club Inc

Tamborine Mountain Tennis Club Inc

Tennis Central Miami

Tennis for Kids

Tennis Gold Coast Inc.

Tennis on 11th Inc

SOUTH REGION
Bollon Tennis Club Inc

Cecil Plains Tennis Club Inc

Chinchilla Tennis Association Inc

Clifton & District Tennis Association Inc

Cunnamulla PCYC

Dalby & District Tennis Association Inc

Esk Tennis Club Inc

Gatton Tennis Association Inc

Goondiwindi & District Tennis Association 
Inc

Highfields Tennis Centre

Lockyer Tennis Association Inc

Pittsworth Tennis Club Inc

Range Tennis Club Inc

Ravensbourne Sporting Association Inc

Roma & District Tennis Club Inc

St George Tennis Club Inc

Stanthorpe & District Tennis Association 
Inc

Tara Tennis Club Inc

Taroom Tennis Club Inc

Toogoolawah Tennis Club

Toowoomba Regional Tennis Centre

Toowoomba Tennis Association Inc

Wandoan Tennis Club Inc

Warwick & District Tennis Association Inc

Yuleba Lawn Tennis Club Inc

WEST REGION
Barcaldine Lawn Tennis Club Inc

Copper City Tennis Club Inc

Corfield Sports Club Inc

Flinders Tennis Club Inc

Longreach Tennis Club Inc

Mornington Island State School

Morven & District Tennis Club

Richmond Tennis Club

Winton Tennis Club
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
DIRECTORS, MEMBERS & OFFICE BEARERS

METROPOLITAN
Chairperson Nick Clarke

Vice Chairperson Graeme 
Brimblecombe

Treasurer Steve Miller

Regional Members

Nick Clarke
Greme 
Brimblecombe
Steve Miller

GOLD COAST
Chairperson Leanne Evans

Vice Chairperson James Rapkins

Secretary Leeanne 
Braund

Treasurer Stephen Kua

Regional Members Leanne Evans
James Rapkins

SOUTH 

Chairperson Steven Forbes

Vice Chairperson
Nathan 
Costello

Treasurer Ross Smythe

Regional Member Nathan 
Costello

WEST
Chairperson Susan Johnson

Regional Member Susan Johnson

AUDIT & RISK COMMITTEE

Anthony White (Chairperson)

Jill South, Michael James, Richard 
Watson

MATCHPLAY COMMITTEE
Ken Laffey (Chairperson)

Roanne Lemmon-Warde, Anthony 
White, Graeme Brimblecombe, Wayne 
Brumm, Alan Harris, Paul Horn, Steve 
Merker, Murray Whitbread, Phil 
Waight, Shayne Tabb, Rob Barty.

GOVERNANCE
Richard Watson (Chairperson)

Ken Laffey, Michael James, Jill South

WOMEN & GIRLS COMMITTEE
Roanne Lemmon-Warde 
(Chairperson)

Jill South, Wayne Brumm, Kim Birrell, 
Sharon Hoole, Tim Low

FACILITIES COMMITTEE

Ken Laffey (Chairperson)

Jane Prentice, Graeme 
Brimblecombe, Chris Freeman

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Jane Prentice (Chair)

Richard Watson

Michael James

Ken Laffey

Roanne Lemmon-Warde

Jill South

Wayne Brumm

Anthony White

Graeme Brimblecombe

REGIONAL ASSEMBLIES

FAR NORTH
Chairperson Ryan Coffey

Vice Chairperson Wayne Fielder

Treasurer John Collings

Secretary Paul Horn

Regional Member Ryan Coffey

NORTH
Chairperson Allan Harris

Deputy Chairperson Bradley 
McAllister

Treasurer Bradley 
McAllister

Secretary Bradley 
McAllister

Regional Member Bradley 
McAllister

CENTRAL
Chairperson Graham Hick

Vice Chairperson
Murray 
Whitbread

Treasurer Glenn Vickery

Secretary Glenn Vickery

Regional Members
Glenn Vickery 
Murray 
Whitbread

SUNSHINE COAST
Chairperson Jason Reynolds

Vice  Chairperson Robert Nichols

Treasurer Margaret 
Gillett

Regional Members
Jason 
Reynolds 
Robert Nichols

TENNIS QUEENSLAND TEAM

EXECUTIVE
CEO 
June 21 - 
December 21

Acting CEO
January 22 - June 
22

Mark Handley

Elia Hill

BUSINESS OPERATIONS

Head of Business 
Operations Shari Maxwell  

Business 
Operations Lead Kate Johnston

Business Projects 
Coordinator

Carla 
Meusburger

Reception and 
Administration 
Assistant

Catherine 
Fullerton

TENNIS NORTH

Head of Tennis 
North 

Cameron 
Whiting 

Far North 
Queensland Tennis 
Development 
Officer 

Cody Meagher

North Queensland 
Tennis 
Development 
Officer 

Brooke Milner

Central 
Queensland Tennis 
Development 
Officer 

Rhett McKinnon

Sunshine 
Coast Tennis 
Development 
Officer 

Nick Todorov

TENNIS SOUTH

Head of Tennis 
South Darren Stoddart

Metro Tennis 
Development 
Officer 

Toni Cooke

South Queensland 
Tennis 
Development 
Officer 

Rebecca 
Herbert

Gold Coast Tennis 
Development 
Officer

Blake 
Kebblewhite

MARKETING & 
COMMUNICATIONS

Head of Marketing, 
Digital & 
Communications

Christine 
Turnbull 
(Acting)
 
Camilla 
Campbell 
(Maternity 
Leave)

Communications 
& Content 
Coordinator

Katelyn 
Campbell

Trade Marketing 
Coordinator

Georgia 
Stratton 

Nelson Ferrett

TENNIS DELIVERY

Head of Tennis 
Delivery Elia Hill

Tennis Delivery 
Administration 
Assistant

Katrina Solomon

Match Play 
Development 
Manager

Emma Creighton

Match Play 
Coordinator

Matthew 
Deverson

Game 
Development 
Coordinator

Jennifer Johnson

Leagues 
Operations 
Coordinator

Adam Spence

Facilities 
Development 
Manager

Michael Blomer

Schools 
Development 
Manager

Lauren McQueen

Officiating 
Development 
Coordinator

Cheryl Jenkins

State 
Development 
Squad Coach - 
Inclusion (PWD), 
Performance, 
Wheelchair

Alison Scott

EVENTS

Head of Events Beth Jones

Event Operations 
Lead Zoe Beath

Event Operations 
Coordinator Leanne Mascall

COACH DEVELOPMENT

Coach Development 
Manager Scott Rawlins

Coach Development 
Coordinator Brett Lennard

Coach Development 
Coordinator Jay Deacon

NATIONAL DEVELOPMENT 
SQUAD
Queensland National 
Development Squad 
Coach

Glenn Hamilton

Talent Programs 
Assistant Coach Emma Hayman

Talent Operations 
Manager Isabella Fede

QUEENSLAND TENNIS CENTRE 
(QTC)

QTC Manager Jon Bonner

QTC Tennis 
Operations Manager Adrian O’Sullivan

Customer Service 
Coordinator Brooke Griffin

Coaching 
Coordinator Casey Herbohn

Grounds & Facilities 
Coordinator Judd Percy

COACH COMMITEE

Anthony White (Chairperson)

Roanne Lemmon-Warde

Graeme Brimblecombe

Wayne Brumm

Clint Fyfe

James Rapkins

Tim	Low

Natasha	Kersten
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PARTNERS & 
FRIENDS
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We thank all levels of Government for their continued support of 
tennis in Queensland. These valuable partnerships play an important 
role in growing the sport through investment in facilities, women and 
girls, digital enablement, community engagement and participation.

Tennis Queensland would like to thank our dedicated partners and sponsors 
for supporting us in delivering and growing tennis in communities throughout 

Queensland.

Queensland Government  
ActiveKIT Grant & Active Industry Fund AIF

OUR PARTNERS
SERVING TENNIS

FRIENDS OF TENNIS
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Royal Queensland Lawn Tennis Association Limited
Directors' report
For the year ended 30 June 2022

1. Directors

The directors of the Company at any time during or since the end of the financial year are:

Director Period as Director

Ms J Prentice

Mr M James October 2016 to present
Mr R Watson November 2017 to present
Mr K Laffey November 2019 to present
Ms R Lemmon-Warde November 2020 to present
Dr J South October 2021 to present
Mr W Brumm October 2021 to present
Mr A White October 2020 to June 2022
Mr G Brimblecombe October 2021 to present

Mr W Nicol
Mr R Barty November 2020 to August 2021

Chief Executive Officer

Ms E Hill June 2022 to present (Interim CEO)
Mr M Handley July 2018 to December 2021

Information on Directors

Jane Prentice • Director since October 2020
• President of Scouts Queensland
• Vice-President of Brookfield Show Society
• Consultant for Counsel House
• Chairperson for the Brisbane West Chamber of commerce
• Director of the Australian Institute of Progress
• Brisbane Patron for the Friends of Bush Kids
•

• Hon. Ambassador for the City of Brisbane
• Hon. Member for the Rotary Club of Kenmore
• Patron of the Centenary Theatre Club

Michael James • Director since November 2016
FAICD • Member of Governance Committee
FAIM • Member of Audit & Risk Committee
MBA • Board Advisor to Nationwide Transport and Towing
CPM • Board Advisor to AfterDark Technologies
B Eng (Mining) • Executive Leadership Coach & Mentor

• Cultivator of Strategy & Culture

Richard Watson • Director since November 2017
B Fin Admin • Deputy Chief Executive Officer – Trade & Investment Queensland

• Chair of Governance Committee
• Member of Audit & Risk Committee
• National Governance Working Group

Ken Laffey •

•
•
• Tennis Queensland President 2009 - 2014
• Member Representative to Tennis Australia 2009 – 2014
• President Tennis Coaches Australia (Queensland) – 1992 – 1993
• President Queensland Tennis Centre Association – 1995 – 1996
• President Tennis Brisbane – 1996 – 2006
• Director of Tennis Australia – 2014 – 2019
• Owner and Manager Laff’s Mt Gravatt Tennis Centre – 1979 – 2013
• Tennis Australia Award for Services to the Game in Australia 2012
• Professional Tennis Coach (Tennis Australia Coach Member)
• Qualified Tennis Official

Member of Governance Committee

Advisory Board Member for the Griffith University School of Government and 
International Relations

The directors present their report together with the financial report of Royal Queensland Lawn Tennis Association Limited (‘the Company”) for
the financial year ended 30 June 2022 and the auditor’s report thereon.

Director since November 2019 (previously was a director of Tennis
Queensland 1999-2006, 2008 - 2014)
Chair of Facilities and Match Play Committees

November 2015 to August 2021 (President 
November 2019 to August 2021)

October 2020 to present (Interim President August 
2021 to October 2021, Chairperson from October 
2021)

3
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Royal Queensland Lawn Tennis Association Limited
Directors' report
For the year ended 30 June 2022

1. Directors (continued)

Information on Directors (continued)

Roanne Lemmon-Warde • Tennis Queensland Director November 2020
B Social Science • Women and Girls Committee Member
ILPA • Match Play Committee Member
Tennis Australia Club Professional Coach • Owner and Operator of Brookfield Tennis Centre

Jill South • Tennis Queensland Director since October 2021
B Sc (Hons) • Women and Girls Committee Member
PhD (Chemistry) • Audit and Risk Committee Member

• Governance Committee Member
• Tennis Rockhampton Ltd Chair
• Rockhampton Grammar School Board member
• Surgical Practice Manager/Director

Wayne Brumm • Tennis Queensland Director since October 2021
• Tennis Australia Club Professional Coach 
• Coach Committee Member
• Match Play Committee Member

Anthony White • Tennis Queensland - Member Elected Director Nov 2020-June 2022 
MBA • Tennis Australia Club Professional Coach 
BPharm • Chair - Audit & Risk Committee 
TAE40110 Cert IV Training & Assessment • Member - Matchplay Committee 
CPP40307 Cert IV Property Services • Director - Tennis For Kids

Graeme Brimblecombe • Tennis Queensland Director Oct 2021 - Jul 2022
• Tennis Australia Club Professional Coach 
• Coach Committee Member
• Match Play Committee Member

Warwick Nicol • Director from November 2015 to August 2021
B Bus (Marketing) • Chair – Finance & Audit Sub Committee
B Arts (Sports Studies) • Chair – Tennis Strategy Sub Committee
MAICD •

• Tennis Australia Constitutional Review Working Group 2018
• General Manager, Tennis Brisbane
• Chairperson – Metropolitan Regional Assembly 2009-2016
• Tennis Queensland Company Member 2010 - 2016
• Secretary of the Brisbane District Golf Association since 2009

Robert Barty • Director from November 2020 to August 2021
• Member of Audit and Risk and Women and Girls Committees 
• Director with Bartig Pty Ltd
• Part of the Ash Barty Management Team 

Member of Tournaments, Infrastructure and Nomination and Remuneration
Sub Committees

4

Royal Queensland Lawn Tennis Association Limited
Directors' report
For the year ended 30 June 2022
2. Directors' meetings

A - Number of meetings held during the time the director held office during the year
B - Number of meetings attended

3. Company particulars

4. The Company, Objectives, Strategic Direction and Risks

• Imagination -  dare to think differently
• Excellence - never stop striving
• Collaboration - build trust through mutual respect
• Humility - put others ahead of yourself
To achieve the objectives, the company has adopted the following strategies:
PARTICIPATION

DELIVERERS

FINANCE

ORGANISATIONAL CAPABILITY

STAKEHOLDER SATISFACTION

The Company is incorporated under the Corporations Act 2001 and is a company limited by guarantee. If the Company is wound up, the
constitution states that each member is required to contribute to a maximum of $10 each towards any outstanding obligations of the
Company. At 30 June 2022, the total amount that members of the company are liable to contribute if the Company is wound up is $150.
(2021: $150). 

n/a n/a 4

2 1 n/a n/a 5 5

n/a 1 1
Mr R Barty
Mr W Nicol

Director

Ms J Prentice 
(Interim President)
Mr M James

The number of directors’ meetings (including meetings of committees of directors) and number of meetings attended by each of the
directors of the Company during the financial year are:

n/a

6 n/a

The address of the Company’s registered office is Level 9, 123 Albert Street, Brisbane, Queensland 4000. The principal place of
business is 190 King Arthur Terrace, Tennyson, Queensland 4104.

The principal activity of the Company during the financial year was to manage the sport of Tennis in Queensland through the core
business areas of: participation, competitive play, player development, facilities development and management, marketing and public
relations, finance and administration, and the Queensland Tennis Centre. There were no significant changes to the principal activities of
the Company during the year. 
The Company’s vision is for tennis to create be the number one sport in Queensland for participation and accessibility, underpinned by
the following values:

The Company’s objectives have been designed to complement the constitutional objects found in Clause 3.1 of the Constitution.

To encourage people to play, with the focus on developing participants in competitive play; digital transformation; sport for all;
and the execution of projects and increased investment in tennis facilities.

To support people to deliver, with a focus on developing clubs and schools; coach engagement; and the recognition of the
delivery network.

To ensure financial viability, through financial planning and management; and growth of the Queensland Tennis Centre.

To attract, retain and develop talent, through the development of an internal strategic leadership framework; implementation of
an Emerging Leaders Program; and ensuring good governance practices.

To listen to customer feedback to improve delivery through the development of a customer centric culture.

Mr R Watson
Mr K Laffey
Ms R Lemmon-
Warde
Dr J South
Mr W Brumm
Mr A White
Mr G Brimblecombe

n/a n/a

8

3 n/a

n/a n/a n/a n/a 8
3 3

n/a n/a n/a2 2 1 1 n/a n/a 1 1 n/a

n/a
2 2
2 2
2 2

B A

n/a

B

n/a n/a n/a

n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a
n/a n/a n/a

6 n/a

Board 
Meetings

Finance, Audit 
and Risk 

Committee

Governance 
Committee

Facilities 
Committee

Women and 
Girls 

Committee 
(prev. Females 

in Tennis)

Match Play 
Committee

A

n/a n/a

n/a n/a

n/a n/a
n/a n/a
n/a n/a

1 1

Coach 
Committee

A BB AA B A B A B

6 6 n/a10 10 n/a n/a 2 1

10 9 3 4 4 4
n/a n/a n/a10 10 5 5 4 4

810 10 n/a n/a 4 4

n/a n/a 4 4 8 710 9 n/a n/a n/a n/a

n/a
35 5 n/a n/a n/a n/a

7 7 3 3 2 2
n/a n/a 3

n/a n/a n/a2 2 1 1 1 1

610 10 5 5 n/a n/a
6 6 n/a n/a 2 2

5
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Royal Queensland Lawn Tennis Association Limited
Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
For the year ended 30 June 2022

Note 2022 2021

Revenue from ordinary activities 5 2,775,262 2,418,764 
Other income from ordinary activities 6 2,762,324 3,339,222 
Total revenues from ordinary activities 5,537,586 5,757,986 

Player Development (79,186) (95,830)
Participation (221,556) (79,549)
Tournament Program (257,844) (111,854)
Places to Play (238,362) (7,916)
Marketing and Public Relations (53,640) (32,569)
Finance and Administration (326,247) (328,445)
Queensland Tennis Centre Operations (312,687) (373,598)
Queensland Tennis Centre Venue Maintenance (638,271) (665,576)
Salaries, wages and oncosts (3,231,897) (3,318,431)
Depreciation (115,234) (126,496)
Total expenses (5,474,924) (5,140,264)

Operating surplus/(deficit) 62,662 617,722 

Revenue from other activities 8 273,595 249,401 
Expense from other activities 8 (334,444) (300,103)

Operating surplus/(deficit) after other activities 1,813 567,020 

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year 1,813 567,020 

The statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive income is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial
statements set out on pages 7 to 22.

7

The statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive income is to be read in conjuntion with the 
notes to the financial statements set out on pages 73 to 88.
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Royal Queensland Lawn Tennis Association Limited
Statement of financial position
As at 30 June 2022

Note 2022 2021

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 9 2,116,818 2,691,894 
Trade and other receivables 10 1,062,582 505,164 
Financial assets 11 3,396,308 3,387,325 
Prepaid expenses 12 - 8,000 
Inventories 13 66,510 42,998 

Total current assets 6,642,218 6,635,381 

Property, plant and equipment 14 44,268 62,011 
Right-of-use assets 15 546,869 636,991 

Total non-current assets 591,137 699,002 

Total assets 7,233,355 7,334,383 

Liabilities
Trade and other payables 16 659,502 783,328 
Provisions 17 305,401 398,667 
Deferred revenue 18 385,189 301,452 
Lease liabilities 15 68,758 1,189 

Total current liabilities 1,418,850 1,484,636 

Provisions 17 49,976 29,646 
Lease liabilities 15 81,851 139,236 

Total non-current liabilities 131,827 168,882 

Total liabilities 1,550,677 1,653,518 

Net assets 5,682,678 5,680,865 

Members’ equity
Retained earnings 5,065,636 5,089,562 
Regional Assemblies reserve 23 391,004 365,265 
Junior tennis development reserves 184,204 184,204 
Tournament development reserves 41,834 41,834 

Total members’ equity 5,682,678 5,680,865 

The statement of financial position is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements set out on pages 7 to 22.

8

The statement of financial position is to be read in conjuntion with the notes to the financial statements 
set out on pages 73 to 88. 

Royal Queensland Lawn Tennis Association Limited
Statement of changes in equity

As at 30 June 2022

Retained 
earnings

Regional 
Assemblies 

reserve

Junior 
development 

reserve

Tournament 
development 

reserve Total Equity

Balance at 1 July 2020 4,655,994 231,813 184,204 41,834 5,113,845 

Surplus/(loss) for the year 433,568 133,452 - - 567,020 

Balance at 30 June 2021 5,089,562 365,265 184,204 41,834 5,680,865 

Balance at 1 July 2021 5,089,562 365,265 184,204 41,834 5,680,865 

Surplus/(loss) for the year (23,926) 25,739 - - 1,813 

Balance at 30 June 2022 5,065,636 391,004 184,204 41,834 5,682,678 

The statement of changes in equity is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements set out on pages 7 to 22.

9

The statement of changes in equity to be read in conjuntion with the notes to the financial statements set 
out on pages 73 to 88. 
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Royal Queensland Lawn Tennis Association Limited
Statement of cash flows
For the year ended 30 June 2022

Note 2022 2021

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash receipts from customers 5,367,788 5,959,903 
Cash paid to suppliers and employees (5,942,100) (4,999,281)
Interest received relating to bank deposits 1,367 393 
Interest paid - (667)
Net cash (used in)/from operating activities (572,945) 960,348 

Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment - 33,000 
Interest received from term deposits 8,983 17,449 
Transferred to investment (8,983) (17,449)
Net cash received from/(used in) investing activities - 33,000 

Cash flows from financing activities
Lease payments (principal and interest) (2,131) (49,156)
Repayment of borrowings - (15,227)
Net cash (used in) financing activities (2,131) (64,383)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (575,076) 928,965 
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 July 2,691,894 1,762,929 
Cash and cash equivalents at 30 June 2,116,818 2,691,894 

The statement of cash flows is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements set out on pages 7 to 22.

10

the statement of cash flows is to be read in conjuntion with the notes to the financial statements set out 
on pages 73 to 88. 

Royal Queensland Lawn Tennis Association Limited
Notes to the financial statements

1. Reporting entity

2. Basis of preparation
(a) Statement of compliance

(b) Basis of measurement

(c) Functional and presentation currency

(d) Use of estimates and judgements

(i)
(ii)
(iii)
(iv)

(e) Going concern

The key estimates and judgements in the preparation of the financial statements are: 

Long service leave provision - refer Note 3 (d)
Leasing (Incremental Borrowing Rate) - refer Note 3 (g)
Expected credit losses - refer to Note 3 (c) 
Revenue recognition - refer to Note 3 (f)

Royal Queensland Lawn Tennis Association Ltd (the “Company”) is a company domiciled in Australia. The Company is a
company limited by guarantee. The address of the Company’s registered office is:
Level 9
123 Albert Street
Brisbane, QLD 4000
The Company is a not for profit entity and the principal activities of the Company during the course of the financial year
were the promotion and development of the game of tennis in Queensland.

The financial statements are Tier 2 general purpose financial statements which have been prepared in accordance with
Australian Accounting Standards – General Purpose Financial Statements – Simplified Disclosures for For-Profit and Non-
for-Profit Entities and the Corporations Act 2001. These financial statements comply with Australian Accounting
Standards – General Purpose Financial Statements – Simplified Disclosures for For-Profit and Non-for-Profit Entities.

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 4 October 2022.

The financial report has been prepared on the historical costs basis.

The financial report is presented in Australian dollars, which is the Company’s functional currency.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected.

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that
affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

As noted in Note 22, the Company is economically dependent upon Tennis Australia and receives grant funding
therefrom that forms an integral part of the funding required for the Company to achieve its short and long term
objectives. As part of the directors’ consideration of the appropriateness of adopting the going concern basis in preparing
the financial statements, a range of scenarios have been reviewed.  
In the event that grant funding from Tennis Australia Limited should cease, or be reduced, it is the view of the officers that
the Company would still be able to continue meeting the above objectives, albeit to a lesser extent.

The Directors have concluded that it is appropriate that these financial statements are prepared on a going concern
basis, taking regard of the above and while acknowledging the uncertainties around forecasting financials in the COVID-
19 environment. The Directors acknowledge that such uncertainties do not represent material uncertainties related to
going concern.

11
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Royal Queensland Lawn Tennis Association Limited
Notes to the financial statements

3. Significant accounting policies

(a) Financial instruments
(i) Recognition, initial measurement of derecognition

(ii) Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

•
•
•

•
•

•
•

(iii) Subsequent measurement of financial assets

•

•

(iv) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits with maturities of three months or less from the
acquisition date that are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in their fair value, and are used by the Company in
the management of its short term commitments.

They are held within a business model whose objective is to hold the financial assets and collect its contractual
cash flows
The contractual terms of the financial assets give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding

After initial recognition, these are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Discounting is
omitted where the effect of discounting is immaterial. The Company's cash and cash equivalents, trade and most
other receivables fall into this category of financial instrument as well as long-term deposit that were previously
classified as loans and receivables under AASB 139.

Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Company becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the financial instrument, and are measured initially at fair value adjusted by transactions costs, except
for those carried at fair value through profit or loss, which are measured initially at fair value. Subsequent
measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities are described below.
Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, or
when the financial asset and all substantial risks and rewards are transferred. A financial liability is derecognised
when it is extinguished, discharged, cancelled or expires.

Except for those trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component and are measured at the
transaction price, all financial assets are initially measured at fair value adjusted for transaction costs (where
applicable).
For the purpose of subsequent measurement, financial assets other than those designated and effective as hedging
instruments are classified into the following categories upon initial recognition:

All income and expenses relating to financial assets that are recognised in profit or loss are presented within finance
costs, finance income or other financial items, except for impairment of trade receivables which is presented within
other expenses. Classifications are determined by both:

Amortised cost

All income and expenses relating to financial assets that are recognised in profit or loss are presented within finance
costs, finance income or other financial items, except for impairment of trade receivables, which is presented within
other expenses.

The Company does not currently hold any financial assets at FVPL or FVOCI.

Fair value through profit or loss (FVPL)
Equity instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI)

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial report are set out below. These have been
consistently applied to all periods presented in these financial statements. 

Classifications are determined by both:
The Company’s business model for managing the financial asset
The contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets

All income and expenses relating to financial assets that are recognised in profit or loss are presented within finance
costs, finance income or other financial items, except for impairment of trade receivables, which is presented within
other expenses.

The Company’s business model for managing the financial asset
The contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets

Financial assets are measured at amortised cost if the assets meet the following conditions (and are not designated
as FVPL):

12

Royal Queensland Lawn Tennis Association Limited
Notes to the financial statements

3. Significant accounting policies (continued)
(a) Financial instruments (continued)

(v) Non-derivative financial liabilities

(b) Property, plant and equipment
(i) Recognition and measurement

(ii) Subsequent costs

(iii) Depreciation

• Plant and equipment 3 - 10 years
• Leasehold improvements 3 - 10 years

(c) Impairment
(i) Financial assets (including receivables)

Measurement of ECLs

Subsequently, financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method except for
derivatives and financial liabilities designated at FVPL, which are carried subsequently at fair value with gains or
losses recognised in profit or loss.

Depreciation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each part of an
item of property, plant and equipment.
The estimated useful lives in the current and comparative periods are as follows:

Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost or deemed cost less accumulated depreciation (see
below) and accumulated impairment losses. 
Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of self-constructed
assets includes the cost of materials, direct labour, the initial estimate, where relevant, of the costs of dismantling and
removing the items and restoring the site on which they are located, and an appropriate proportion of production
overheads. Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is capitalised as part of
that equipment.

The Company has the following non-derivative financial liabilities: interest bearing liabilities, bank overdrafts and trade
and other payables.
Financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value, and, where applicable, adjusted for transaction costs unless the
Company designated a financial liability at fair value through profit or loss.

All interest-related charges and, if applicable, changes in an instrument’s fair value that are reported in profit or loss
are included within finance costs or finance income.

Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment (calculated as the difference between the net
proceeds from disposal and the carrying amount of the item) is recognised in profit or loss.

The cost of replacing part of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the carrying amount of the item
if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the part will flow to the Company and its cost can be
measured reliably. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of property, plant and equipment are recognised in profit or
loss as incurred.

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as
separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment.

The residual value, the useful life and the depreciation method applied to an asset are reassessed at least annually.

AASB 9’s impairment requirements use more forward-looking information to recognise expected credit losses - the
‘expected credit losses (ECL) model’. Instruments within the scope of the new requirements include loans and other
debt-type financial assets measured at amortised cost.
The Company makes use of a simplified approach in accounting for trade and other receivables and records the loss
allowance at the amount equal to the expected lifetime credit losses. In using this practical expedient, the Company
uses its historical experience, external indicators and forward-looking information to calculate the expected credit
losses using a provision matrix.
The Company assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly if it is more than 120 days
past due.
The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs in the maximum contractual period over which the
Association is exposed to credit risk.

ECLs are probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses measured as the present value of all cash
shortfalls ( i.e the difference between the cash flow due to entity in accordance with the contract and the cash flow
that the Association expects to receive).
ECLs are discounted at the effective interest rate of the financial asset.

13
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Notes to the financial statements

3. Significant accounting policies (continued)
(c) Impairment (continued)

(i) Financial assets (including receivables) (continued)
Presentation of allowance of ECL in statement of financial position

(ii) Non-financial assets

(d) Employee benefits
(i) Long-term employee benefits

(ii) Short-term employee benefits

(iii) Termination benefits

(iv) Defined contribution plans

(e) Provisions

(f) Revenue and other income
(i) Revenue recognition policy for revenue from contracts with customers (AASB 15)

Revenue is recognised by applying a five-step model as follows:
1) Identify the contract with the customer
2) Identify the performance obligations
3) Determine the transaction price
4) Allocate the transaction price
5) Recognise revenue

Any excess of the assets carrying amount over its recoverable amount is recognised in the profit or loss.

Short-term employee benefits are benefits that are expected to be settled wholly within 12 months of the end of the
annual reporting period in which the employee renders the service or which the Company has no unconditional right
to defer settlement for at least 12 months of the end of the reporting period.

Termination benefits are expensed at the earlier of when Company can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits
and when the Company recognises costs for a restructuring. If benefits are not expected to be settled wholly within 12
months at the end of the reporting, then they are discounted.

AASB 15 requires revenue to be recognised when control of a promised good or service is passed to the customer at
an amount which reflects the expected consideration. The customer for these contracts is the fund provider. 

A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation that
can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation.
Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability.

Generally, the timing of the payment for sale of goods and rendering of services corresponds closely to the timing of
satisfaction of the performance obligations, however where there is a difference, it will result in the recognition of a
receivable, contract asset or contract liability.

The carrying amounts of the Company’s non-financial assets, other than inventories, are reviewed at each reporting
date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists then the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. 

The Company’s net obligation in respect of long-term service benefits is the amount of future benefit that employees
have earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods. The obligation is calculated using expected
future increases in wage and salary rates including related on-costs and expected settlement dates, and is
discounted using the rates attached to the Corporate bonds at the balance sheet date which have maturity dates
approximating to the terms of the Company’s obligations.

Short-term employee benefits are expensed as the related service is provided. A liability is recognised for the amount
expected to be paid if the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of
past service provided by the employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably.

None of the revenue streams of the Company have any significant financing terms as there is less than 12 months
between receipt of funds and satisfaction of performance obligations. Costs are recognised on an accrual basis.

Loss allowance for financial assets measured at amortised cost are deducted from the gross carrying amount of the
assets.

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution plans are expensed as the related service is provided. Prepaid
contribution are recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in future payments is available.
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued)
(f) Revenue and other income (continued)

Grant income from Government

Affiliation fees

(ii)

Grant income

Capital grants

Volunteer services

(iii) Significant estimate and judgements relating to revenue

(g) Leases

(i) As a lessee
Initial recognition and measurement

For construction projects, this is generally as the construction progresses in accordance with costs incurred since this
is deemed to be the most appropriate measure of the completeness of the construction project as there is no profit
margin.

The Company has elected not to record volunteer services in the financial statements. Volunteer services received
relate to assisting in the organising and running of tennis events throughout the state of Queensland.

Assets arising from grants in the scope of AASB 1058 are recognised at their fair value when the asset is received.
These assets are generally cash but maybe property which has been donated or sold to the Company at significantly
below its fair value.
Once the asset has been recognised, the Company recognises any related liability amounts. Once the assets and
liabilities have been recognised then income is recognised for any difference between the recorded asset and liability.

At commencement or on modification of a contract that contains a lease component, the Company allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of its relative standalone prices. However, for the
leases of property the Company has elected not to separate non-lease components and account for the lease and
non-lease components as a single lease component.

Revenue recognition policy for revenue streams which are either not enforceable or do not have sufficiently specific
performance obligations (AASB 1058)

Grant income arising from an agreement which contains enforceable and sufficiently specific performance obligations
is recognised when control of each performance obligations is satisfied. This is generally the case for the monies from 
the Government and the performance obligations are varied based on the agreement.
Within grant agreements there may be some performance obligations where control transfers at a point in time and
others which have continuous transfer of control over the life of the contract.
Where control is transferred over time, generally the revenue is recognition based on either cost or time incurred
which best reflects the transfer of control.

Revenue from affiliation fees is recognised in the profit or loss in proportion to the stage of completion of the
transaction at the reporting date. The stage of completion is assessed by reference to the period to which
membership relates.

Capital grants received under an enforceable agreement to enable the Company to acquire or construct an item of
property, plant and equipment to identified specifications which will be controlled by the Company (once complete)
are recognised as revenue as and when the obligation to construct or purchase is completed.

For many of the grant agreements received, the determination of whether the contract includes sufficiently specific
performance obligations was a significant judgement involving discussions with several parties at the Company,
review of the proposal documents prepared during the grant application phase and consideration of the terms and
conditions.
Grants received by the Company have been accounted for under both AASB 15 and AASB 1058 depending on the
terms and conditions and decisions made.
If this determination was changed then the revenue recognition pattern would be different from that recognised in this
financial report. 

At inception of a contract, the Company assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a
lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration. To assess whether a contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset, the Company uses
the definition of a lease in AASB 16.

For acquisitions of assets, the revenue is recognised when the asset is acquired and controlled by the Company.
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Notes to the financial statements

3. Significant accounting policies (continued)
(g) Leases (continued)

(i) As a lessee (continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

• fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payment;
•

• amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee; and
•

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

(ii) As a lessor

To calculate each lease, the Company makes an overall assessment of whether the lease transfer substantially all of
the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the underlying assets. If this is the case, then the lease is a finance
lease; if not, then it is an operating lease. As part of this assessment, the Company considers certain indicators such
as whether the lease is for the major part of the economic life of the asset. 
If an arrangement contains lease and non-lease components, then the Company applies AASB 15 to allocate the
consideration in the contract. 
The Company recognises lease payments received under operating leases as income on a straight-line basis over
the lease term as part of other income.

variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date;

the exercise price under a purchase option that the Company is reasonably certain to exercise, lease payments in
an optional renewal period if the Company is reasonably certain to exercise an extension option, and penalties for
early termination of a lease unless the Company is reasonably certain not to terminate early.

The Company recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. The right-of-use
asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for any lease
payments made at or before the commencement date, plus any initial direct costs incurred and an estimate of costs to
dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is located, less
any lease incentives received.
The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the commencement date to
the end of the lease term, unless the lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset to the Company by the end of
the lease term or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that the Company will exercise a purchase option. In that
case the right-of-use asset will be depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset, which is determined on the
same basis as those of property and equipment. In addition, the right-of-use asset is periodically reduced by
impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for certain re-measurements of the lease liability.
The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the
commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily
determined, the Company’s incremental borrowing rate. Generally, the Company uses its incremental borrowing rate
as the discount rate.
The Company determines its incremental borrowing rate by obtaining interest rates from various external financing
sources and makes certain adjustments to reflect the terms of the lease and type of the asset leased. 
Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following: 

The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. It is remeasured when there is a
change in future lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, if there is a change in the Company’s
estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee, if the Company changes its
assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase, extension or termination option or if there is a revised in-substance
fixed lease payment.
When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the
right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to
zero. The Company presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the definition of investment property in property,
plant and equipment and lease liabilities in loans and borrowings in the statement of financial position.

The Company has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for leases of low-value assets and
short-term leases, including IT equipment. The Company recognises the lease payments associated with these
leases as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
At inception or on modification of a contract that contains a lease component, the Company allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of their relative stand-alone prices.

When the Company acts as a lessor, it determines at lease inception whether each lease is a finance lease or an
operating lease. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued)
(h) Finance income and costs

(i) Income tax

Withholding tax from other jurisdictions is provided when the liability is due and payable.
(j) Goods and services tax

Receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included.

(k) Trade and other receivables

(l) Trade and other payables

(m) New accounting standards and interpretations not yet adopted

-

4. Determination of fair values

• Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
• Level 2:

• Level 3: unobservable inputs for the asset or liability

A number of the Company’s accounting policies and disclosures require the determination of fair value, for both financial
and non-financial assets and liabilities. Fair values have been determined for measurement and/or disclosure purposes
based on the following methods. 

Finance costs comprise interest expense on borrowings. All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss using the
effective interest method.

Trade and other receivables include amounts due from member associations as well as amounts received from
customers for goods sold in the ordinary course of business. All receivables are expected to be received within 12 months
of the end of the financial year and as such are classified as current assets.
Accounts receivable are recognised at fair value, less any provision for impairment. Refer to Note 3 (c) for further
discussion on the determination of impairment losses.

Where applicable, further information about the assumptions made in determining fair values is disclosed in the notes
specific to that asset or liability.

inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly or indirectly

The income of the Company is exempt from income tax under Div 50 of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997, and
accordingly, no provision has been made in the accounts for income tax payable.

Revenue, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST), except where the
amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority. In these circumstances, the GST is recognised as
part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense.

Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from
investing and financing activities which are recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO are classified as operating cash
flows.

The above standards did not have any impact on the amounts recognised in prior periods and are not expected to
significantly affect the current or future periods.

Finance income comprises interest income on funds invested. Interest income is recognised as it accrues in profit or loss,
using the effective interest method. 

Trade and other payables represent the liabilities for goods and services received by the entity during the reporting period
that remain unpaid at the end of the financial period. The balance is recognised as a current liability with the amounts
normally paid within 30 days of recognition of the liability.

The Company has initially adopted the following standard from 1 July 2021:
AASB 1060 General Purpose Financial Statements - Simplified Disclosures for For-Profit and Not-For-Profit Tier 2 
Entities
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5. Revenue
2022 2021

(i)

Annual affiliation fees 613,829 608,068 
Queensland Tennis Centre 1,710,363 1,531,017 
Entry and Sanction fees 249,048 107,307 
Interest and investment income 10,350 17,842 
Other income 191,672 154,530 

2,775,262 2,418,764 

2022 2021
(ii)

Services transferred at point in time 2,161,433 1,810,696 
Services transferred over time 613,829 608,068 

2,775,262 2,418,764 

6. Other income
2022 2021

Tennis Australia grants 2,177,824 2,130,272 
Government grants

389,500 195,000 
Department of Housing and Public Works 180,000 285,000 
Qld Rural & Industry Development Authority 15,000 - 

- 728,950 

2,762,324 3,339,222 

7. Expenses

2022 2021
Depreciation

Depreciation - non-current assets 17,743 28,489 
Depreciation - ROU assets 97,491 98,007 

Bad and doubtful debts 1,425 16,540 

8. Revenue/expenses from other activities
2022 2021

Income
Regional Tennis Centres 16,141 9,784 
Regional Assemblies 257,454 239,617 

273,595 249,401 
Expenses
Regional Tennis Centres 15,837 107,046 
Regional Assemblies 318,607 193,057 

334,444 300,103 

Revenue from contracts with customers - AASB 
15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

Timing of revenue recognition

Revenue recognised under AASB 1058 Income of 

Government COVID-19 support (JobKeeper &
Cash Flow Boost)

Department of Tourism, Innovation of Sport
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9. Cash and cash equivalents
2022 2021

Bank balances 1,725,813 2,326,078 
Bank balances - Regional Assemblies 391,005 365,266 
Cash on hand - 550 

2,116,818 2,691,894 

10. Trade and other receivables
2022 2021

Trade receivables 623,317 341,775 
Less: Provision for doubtful debts (1,425)
Other receivables 440,690 163,389 

1,062,582 505,164 

11. Financial assets
2022 2021

Term deposits 3,396,308 3,387,325 
3,396,308 3,387,325 

12. Prepaid expenses
2022 2021

Current
Prepayments - 8,000 

- 8,000 

13. Inventories
2022 2021

Inventory on hand 66,510 42,998 
66,510 42,998 

14. Property, plant and equipment

2022 2021
Plant and equipment
Cost 159,121 159,121 
Accumulated depreciation (114,853) (97,110)

44,268 62,011 

Motor vehicle
Cost 57,381 57,381 
Accumulated depreciation (57,381) (57,381)

- - 

Total property, plant and equipment 44,268 62,011 
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14. Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Plant and 
equipment

Motor 
vehicle Total

Carrying amounts
At 1 July 2020 79,754 50,816 130,570 
Disposals - (40,070) (40,070)
Depreciation (17,743) (10,746) (28,489)
At 30 June 2021 62,011 - 62,011 

At 1 July 2021 62,011 - 62,011 
Disposals - - - 
Depreciation (17,743) - (17,743)
At 30 June 2022 44,268 - 44,268 

15. Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities

Right-of-use Assets

(i) Amounts recognised within the statement of financial position 

Property Equipment Total

Balance at 1 July 2021 630,805 6,186 636,991 
Additions to right-of-use assets 7,367 7,367 
Depreciation charge for the year (96,220) (1,270) (97,490)
Balance at 30 June 2022 541,952 4,916 546,868 

Lease Liabilities
2022 2021

Current
Lease liabilities - ROU assets 68,758 1,189 

68,758 1,189 

Non-current
Lease liabilities - ROU assets 81,851 139,236 

81,851 139,236 

2022 2021
Years of maturity Carrying Amount Carrying Amount

Lease liabilities Between 1 and 11 
years

150,609 140,425 

Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of each class of property, plant and equipment at the beginning and end of
the current financial period are set out below:

The Company leases three separate properties and a photocopier. The properties comprise the Queensland
Tennis Centre, administration offices within the Queensland Tennis Centre and administration office space within
the Coolum Tennis Club. The Queensland Tennis Centre lease runs till the end of 2023 whereas the
administration office lease runs till the end of 2033. The Coolum Tennis Club lease runs until 2024. The printer
lease operates until 2026. None of the leases provide any extension options.

The following table sets the terms and repayment schedule for right-of-use assets held by the 

Nominal interest 
rate

3.50%
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16. Trade and other payables
2022 2021

Trade payables 73,306 236,061 
Other payables and accrued expenses 586,196 547,267 

659,502 783,328 

17. Provisions
2022 2021

Current
Provision for annual leave 217,722 256,420 
Provision for long-service leave 87,679 142,247 

305,401 398,667 

Non-current
Provision for long-service leave 49,976 29,646 

49,976 29,646 

Annual Leave Long Service 
Opening Balance 256,420 171,893 
Provisions made during the year 105,646 20,642 
Provisions paid/reversed during the year (144,344) (54,880)
Balance as at 30 June 2022 217,722 137,655 

18. Deferred income
2022 2021

Income received in advance 385,189 301,452 
385,189 301,452 

19. Financial Instruments

The following table shows the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities

Financial assets measured at amortised cost Note 2022 2021
Trade receivables 10 623,317 341,775 
Cash and cash equivalents 9 2,116,818 2,691,894 

2,742,157 3,035,690 

Financial assets measured at amortised cost
Trade payables 14 73,306 236,061 
Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities 15 150,609 140,425 

223,915 376,486 
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20. Members' Guarantee

21. Related party transactions

The Company, being an Associate member of Tennis Australia (TA), receives shared services benefits from TA.  

The Directors of the Company act on an honorary basis.

22. Reserves

Regional Assemblies Reserves

Refer to Note 23 for further clarification on Regional Assemblies. 
Junior tennis development reserves

Tournament development reserves

23. Regional Assemblies

24. Subsequent events

The company is a company limited by guarantee. There is no authorised or issued share capital. If the company is
wound up, the liability of the members is limited to $10 each (2021: $10). As at 30 June 2022 the company had 15
members (2021:15 members).

In the interval between the end of financial year and the date of this report the only matter of note is the appointment
of a new CEO, Mr Anthony White. Anthony begins with the Company from October 2022.
There have been no other matters or circumstances arise which significantly affected or may significantly affect the
operations of the company, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the company in future financial
years. 

The funds held in relation to the regional assemblies can be used at the discretion of the regional assemblies, and
have been provided for as a reserve from the financial year ended 30 June 2019.

These benefits include accounting, human resources, legal and information technology resources. These services
were provided for $ NIL consideration. 

The key management personnel for Tennis Queensland includes the CEO and Senior Management. The
compensation paid, payable or provided in short term retirement and other long terms benefits to the key
management personnel is $873,970 (2021: $712,922).
The total number of employees included in this calculation was 8 for the year ended 30 June 2022 (2021: 8)
Wayne Brumm serves as a director of Pure Tennis Ferny Hills. In the finanical year ended 30 June 2022, Pure Tennis
Ferny Hills were awarded a Flood Recovery Grant valued at $6,000.

The funds held in relation to the regional assemblies can be used at the discretion of the regional assemblies, and
have been provided for as a reserve from the financial year ended 30 June 2019. 

The Company oversees, and provides minor funding for, the operations of 8 regional assemblies within Queensland.
The role of the assemblies is to provide primarily for the promotion of the sport in regional areas as set out in the
Company Constitution.  

This reserve was established with the purpose of development and enhancement of junior players in Queensland. 

This reserve was established with the purpose of development and enhancement of tennis tournaments in
Queensland. 
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A member of Bentleys, a network of independent advisory and accounting firms located 
throughout Australia, New Zealand and China that trade as Bentleys. All members of the 
Bentleys Network are affiliated only, are separate legal entities and not in partnership. Liability 
limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation. 

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION
UNDER SECTION 307C OF THE CORPORATIONS ACT 2001

TO THE DIRECTORS OF ROYAL QUEENSLAND LAWN TENNIS ASSOCIATION LIMITED

I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, during the year ended 30 June 2022 there have been:

(i)  no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements as set out in the Corporations Act 2001 in
relation to the audit; and

(ii)  no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

Bentleys Brisbane (Audit) Pty Ltd
Chartered Accountants

Stewart Douglas
Director
Brisbane
4 October 2022

   

 

A member of Bentleys, a network of independent advisory and accounting firms located throughout 
Australia, New Zealand and China that trade as Bentleys. All members of the Bentleys Network 
are affiliated only, are separate legal entities and not in partnership. Liability limited by a scheme 
approved under Professional Standards Legislation.  

 
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
TO THE MEMBERS OF ROYAL QUEENSLAND LAWN TENNIS ASSOCIATION LIMITED 
 
Report on the Audit of the Financial Report 
 
Opinion 
We have audited the financial report of Royal Queensland Lawn Tennis Association Ltd (the “Company”), which 
comprises the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2022 and the statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, 
notes comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information, and the 
director’s declaration.   
 
In our opinion the financial report of the Company is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including: 
 

(i) giving a true and fair view of the Company’s financial position as at 30 June 2022 and of its 
performance for the year then ended; and  

(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards – Simplified Disclosures and the Corporations 
Regulations 2001. 

 
Basis for Opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section of 
our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the auditor independence requirements of 
the Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the Australian Professional and Ethical Standards 
Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the 
financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. 
 
We confirm that the independence declaration, which has been given to the Directors of the Company, would 
be in the same terms if given to the Directors as at the time of this auditor's report. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. 
 
Other Information 
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included 
in the Company's annual report for the year ended 30 June 2022, but does not include the financial report and 
our auditor's report thereon. 
 
Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not express any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon. 
 
In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in 
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial report or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 
 
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 
 
Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Report  
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and 
fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards –Simplified Disclosures and the Corporations Act 
2001 and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the 
financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 
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A member of Bentleys, a network of independent advisory and accounting firms located throughout 
Australia, New Zealand and China that trade as Bentleys. All members of the Bentleys Network 
are affiliated only, are separate legal entities and not in partnership. Liability limited by a scheme 
approved under Professional Standards Legislation.  

 
 
 
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
TO THE MEMBERS OF ROYAL QUEENSLAND LAWN TENNIS ASSOCIATION LIMITED  
(Continued) 
 
In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the ability of the Company to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, 
or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements 
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.  
 
As part of an audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional judgement and 
maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.  We also:   

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or 
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Company's internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the directors. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors' use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. If 
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report 
to the related disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. 
However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the disclosures, 
and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events in a manner that 
achieves fair presentation 

 
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audit 
 
 
 
Bentleys Brisbane (Audit) Pty Ltd 
Chartered Accountants 
 
 
 
 
Stewart Douglas 
Director 
Brisbane 7 October 2022 
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